
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Operating Environment and Initiatives in the  
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2018

During the fiscal year ended December 2018, Suntory Bever-
age & Food Limited Group (the Group), based on the philoso-
phy of enriching consumers’ lives by proposing premium and 
unique products that match the tastes and needs of consum-
ers, put effort into brand reinforcement and new demand 
creation, and worked to improve the quality of products 
throughout the Group. Furthermore, to ensure sustainable 
future growth, the Group endeavored to fortify its business 
foundation in each area.

Analysis of Results of Operations

For the fiscal year under review, the Group reported consoli-
dated revenue of ¥1,294.3 billion, up 4.9% year on year, 
consolidated operating income of ¥113.6 billion, down 3.7% 
year on year and profit for the year attributable to owners of 
the Company of ¥80.0 billion, up 2.4% year on year.

Segment Performance

Japan business
The Group worked on creating new demand by proposing 
products that bring new value and by strengthening core 

brands with a focus on water, coffee, and sugar-free tea 
categories. As a result, sales volume increased year on year. 
On the other hand, profits decreased year on year due to 
increased supply chain costs and the deterioration of prod-
uct mix. 
	 For the Suntory Tennensui brand, the Group continued to 
promote the brand’s unique values of “clear & tasty” and 
“natural & healthy,” and sales for the core mineral water 
product remained strong. In addition, sales of the Suntory 
Minami-Alps Tennensui Sparkling series grew significantly, and 
sales volume for the brand as a whole considerably exceeded 
that of the previous year. As a result, the brand was ranked 
No.1 in the domestic beverage market by annual sales volume 
in 2018*. Furthermore, Suntory Beverage & Food Limited 
signed a plant location agreement with Omachi, Nagano 
Prefecture to secure a “new water source” that will ensure 
stable supply into the future. The new plant is scheduled to 
begin operations at the end of 2020. 
	 For the BOSS brand, the Group continued proactive 
marketing activities for canned coffee, such as launching 
BOSS THE CANCOFFEE, which was developed for core users 
of canned coffee. In addition, the Craft BOSS, which was 
launched in 2017 targeting new coffee users, has continued 
to be well received by consumers. As a result, annual sales 
volume for the BOSS brand as a whole were considerably 
higher than previous year and exceeded 100 million cases. 
Additionally, the Ebina Plant of Suntory Coffee Roastery Ltd., 
which is a group company of Suntory Holdings Limited, began 

full-scale production in July. Going forward, the Group will use 
high-performance roasting equipment installed in the Plant to 
craft a variety of aromas and flavors. In the sugar-free tea 
category, sales volume for the Iyemon brand as a whole 
decreased year on year due to the decline in Tokucha, howev-
er, sales volume for Green DAKARA Yasashii Mugicha grew 
significantly within the expanding barley tea market. In addi-
tion, sales volume for the Suntory Oolong Tea brand increased 
year on year. 
	 FOSHU drink products’ sales volume declined from the 
previous year mainly due to certain products such as Tokucha. 
The Group has started the campaign, the lifestyle support 
service “Tokucha Program Start” since September as part of 
proactive marketing activities for trend recovery. In terms of 
profit, natural disasters and extreme hot weather had an impact 
on logistics of the whole industry, resulting in unexpected 
costs. Furthermore, the deterioration of product mix caused by 
the sales declines in products such as FOSHU drink products, 
and the Group’s lack of in-house production capacity for 
aseptic products, continued to have a negative effect to the 
profit. As a result of these activities, the Japan business report-
ed revenue of ¥708.7 billion, up 2.8% year on year, and seg-
ment profit of ¥52.7 billion, down 8.1% year on year. 
*Based on survey results by Inryou Soken

Europe business
Marketing investments with a focus on core brands and the 

premium low-sugar iced tea MayTea, were conducted. 
	 In France, in addition to year-on-year increase in sales 
volumes for the carbonated fruit drink Orangina and the fruit 
juice Oasis, sales of MayTea also significantly increased. On 
the other hand, with the shortage of trucks continuing and 
turmoil in the logistics network caused by hot weather, supply 
chain costs increased. 
	 In the UK, sales for Lucozade Energy, which had been 
declining, showed an upward trend, and sales volume for 
Lucozade brand increased year on year. Sales volume for 
Ribena decreased year on year. The Group conducted invest-
ments in marketing aiming for reviving the trend of Lucozade 
Energy sales. 
	 In Spain, the Group focused on expanding consumer 
contact of Schweppes mainly through the onpremise channel, 
but sales volume for the brand decreased year on year, affect-
ed partly by the bad weather and downtrend in the on-premise 
market. Furthermore, intensifying competition resulted in 
increase of rebates and sales promotion costs, which had a 
negative effect on revenue and profit. In addition, a total of 
about ¥4.0 billion impairment loss was recorded in relation to 
goodwill, etc. for certain brands in Spain, and some business in 
Africa. As a result of these activities, the Europe business 
reported revenue of ¥245.2 billion, up 2.6% year on year, and 
segment profit of ¥25.0 billion, down 27.8% year on year.

Asia business
The Group took steps to expand sales of core brands in key 
regions, and Suntory PepsiCo Beverage (Thailand) Co., Ltd., a 
joint venture with PepsiCo, Inc. in Thailand, started operations 
on March 5, 2018. Regarding the beverage business, in 
Vietnam, sales increased year on year, assisted by steady 
performance of the energy drink Sting, as well as growth in 
sales of the RTD TEA+, the bottled water Aquafina and 
carbonated drinks. The cup jelly drink Okky was well-received 
in Indonesia. In addition, the joint venture in Thailand also 
performed as planned. 
	 BRAND’S Suntory, which is operating the health supple-
ment business, worked to enhance marketing of BRAND’S 
Essence of Chicken, mainly in the core Thailand market, in 
order to revive the trend, but sales decreased year on year. 
	 The Group completed transferring the shares of its sub-
sidiaries that operate the food and instant coffee business on 
March 9, 2018, and around ¥12.0 billion of gain on sale for 
this transaction was recorded in the fiscal year under review. 
As a result of these activities, the Asia business reported 
revenue of ¥201.1 billion, up 23.0% year on year, and seg-
ment profit of ¥33.3 billion, up 50.2% year on year. 

Oceania business
The Group continued to strengthen its core brands, and the 
fresh coffee business was transferred to the Oceania business 
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from the beginning of the year ended December 31, 2018. 
	 At FRUCOR SUNTORY, sales of energy drinks such as V 
remained strong, and the Group also newly launched Amplify, 
the fermented tea product (kombucha). 
	 In the fresh coffee business, the Group continued to work 
on strengthening its core brands such as Toby’s Estate, 
L’Affare, and Mocopan. 
	 As a result of these activities, the Oceania business 
reported revenue of ¥54.2 billion, down 3.8% year on year, 
and segment profit of ¥6.4 billion, up 6.0% year on year.

Americas business
The core carbonated beverage brand products continued to 
struggle, but the Group has started to see signs of recovery. 
On the other hand, in addition to the decline in sales, increase 
in costs due to the higher price of raw materials had a nega-
tive impact on profits. 
	 As a result of these activities, the Americas business 
reported revenue of ¥85.0 billion, down 1.2% year on year, 
and segment profit of ¥8.5 billion, down 8.7% year on year.

R&D Activities

Our research and development divisions believe that great 
taste, underpinned by safety and reliability, lies at the heart of 
the value of each product. Accordingly, research and develop-

ment divisions and departments established in Japan and 
overseas are working to develop high-value-added products. 
Research and development costs for the consolidated fiscal 
year totaled ¥9.0 billion, consisting of ¥6.4 billion in our Japan 
business, ¥1.8 billion in our Europe business, ¥0.6 billion in 
our Asia business, ¥0.2 billion in our Oceania business, ¥0.0 
billion in our Americas business.

Analysis of Financial Condition

Total assets as of December 31, 2018 were ¥1,539.4 billion, 
an increase of ¥17.4 billion compared to December 31, 2017. 
The main factors were increases in trade receivables and 
property, plant and equipment due to the acquisition of 
Suntory PepsiCo Beverage (Thailand) Co., Ltd., which be-
came a subsidiary of the Group in the year ended December 
31, 2018. 
	 Total liabilities stood at ¥740.5 billion, a decrease of ¥35.3 
billion compared to December 31, 2017. The main factor was 
a decrease in long-term borrowings, despite increases in 
trade and other payables and other items due to the acquisi-
tion of Suntory PepsiCo Beverage (Thailand) Co., Ltd. Total 
equity stood at ¥798.9 billion, an increase of ¥52.7 billion 
compared to December 31, 2017 due in part to an increase in 
non-controlling interests resulting from the acquisition of 
Suntory PepsiCo Beverage (Thailand) Co., Ltd. and an in-
crease in retained earnings resulting from the recording of 

profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company. As a 
result of the above, ratio of equity attributable to owners of 
the Company to total assets was 46.4% and equity attribut-
able to owners of the Company per share was ¥2,313.34. 

Cash Flows

Cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2018 amount-
ed to ¥146.5 billion, an increase of ¥32.7 billion compared to 
December 31, 2017. 
	 Net cash inflow from operating activities was ¥146.4 
billion, a decrease of ¥3.2 billion compared to the previous 
fiscal year. This was the result of depreciation and amortiza-
tion of ¥63.3 billion, gain on sales of shares of subsidiaries of 
¥12.0 billion and an increase in inventories of ¥4.9 billion, 
despite profit before tax of ¥111.8 billion. 
	 Net cash outflow from investing activities was ¥58.5 
billion, an increase of ¥5.6 billion compared to the previous 
fiscal year. This was mainly the result of the payments of 
¥26.7 billion for the acquisition of Suntory PepsiCo Beverage 
(Thailand) Co., Ltd., despite the proceeds of ¥24.2 billion from 
sales of all of the shares of three subsidiaries operating food 
and instant coffee business. 
	 Net cash outflow from financing activities was ¥56.9 
billion, a decrease of ¥6.7 billion compared to the previous 
fiscal year. This was mainly the result of the proceeds from 
issuance of bonds of ¥29.9 billion, despite the repayments of 

long-term borrowings of ¥63.0 billion.

Capital Expenditures
Total capital expenditures by the SBF Group in the year ended 
December 2018 amounted to ¥60.4 billion. The purposes for 
this expenditure were the expansion of production capacity, 
the enhancement of marketing capabilities, quality improve-
ment, and rationalization measures.
	 Capital expenditures relating to business operations in 
Japan amounted to ¥33.0 billion. The main items were pro-
duction capacity expansion, rationalization measures, and the 
installation of vending machines.
	 Capital expenditures relating to overseas business opera-
tions amounted to ¥12.5 billion in Europe, ¥6.2 billion in Asia, 
¥3.0 billion in Oceania, and ¥5.6 billion in the Americas. The 
main expenditure items were production capacity expansion 
and rationalization measures.

Dividend Policy

The Company believes its prioritization of strategic invest-
ments as well as capital expenditures for sustainable revenue 
growth and increasing the value of its business will benefit its 
shareholders. In addition, the Company views an appropriate 
shareholder return as one of its core management principles. 
While giving due consideration to providing a stable return 
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and maintaining robust internal reserves for the future, the 
Company intends to pursue a shareholder return policy that 
takes its business results and future funding needs into 
account comprehensively. Specifically, the Company aims to 
stably increase dividends on the basis of profit growth with a 
targeted consolidated payout ratio of 30% or more of profit 
for the year attributable to owners of the Company. Looking 
to the medium- and long-term, the Company will also consid-
er increasing the payout ratio depending on such factors as 
its need for funds and progress in profit growth. 
	 For the fiscal year under review, in accordance with the 
basic policy described above and a consideration of busi-
ness results and environment, the Company plans to pay a 
fiscal year-end dividend of ¥39 per share. As a result, the 
planned annual dividend for the fiscal year under review is 
¥78 per share, together with an interim dividend of ¥39 
already paid. For the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019, 
the Company plans to pay an annual dividend of ¥78 per 
share, comprised of an interim dividend of ¥39 and a fiscal 
year-end dividend of ¥39. 
	 Our Articles of Incorporation provide that interim dividends 
with a record date of June 30 of every year may be declared 
by a resolution of the Board of Directors.

The dividend payments for the fiscal year under review are as 
follows.

Date of determination
Total dividend 

(millions of yen)
Dividends  

per share (yen)

August 6, 2018
Board of Director resolution

12,051 39

March 28, 2019
Ordinary general meeting of 
shareholders

12,051 39

Outlook for the Fiscal Year Ending  
December 31, 2019

The SBF Group has strengthened our business foundation by 
listing shares on the Tokyo Stock Exchange and by engaging 
in various mergers and acquisitions. Utilizing this business 
foundation, we aim to accelerate self-sustainable growth in 
each area of operations, creating synergies and expanding in 
an integrated manner. Based on the long-term strategy and 
the medium-term plan that have been formulated, the Group 
will work to further improve profitability and build its business 
foundation in order to further strengthen the strategies it has 
applied hitherto. 
	 In the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019, the Group 
expects consolidated revenue of ¥1,313.0 billion, up 1.4% 
year on year, consolidated operating income of ¥110.0 billion, 
up 3.1%.

Business and Other Risks 

Our business, financial condition, and operating results could 
be materially adversely affected by the factors discussed 
below. The risks outlined below are those identified by Sunto-
ry Beverage & Food Limited and its consolidated subsidiaries 
as of March 29, 2019.

(1) Risks related to product development and supply
The beverage and food industry is highly susceptible to 
changes in consumer preferences. In order to generate 
revenues and profits, we must have product offerings that 
appeal to consumers. Although we strive to effectively monitor 
changes in the markets for our products, there is no assur-
ance that we will develop new products that appeal to con-
sumers. In particular, one element of our product strategy is 
to introduce products that appeal to health-conscious con-
sumers, but we may face increased competition as other 
manufacturers also focus on products that emphasize health. 
Any significant changes in consumer preferences or any 
inability on our part to anticipate or react to such changes 
could result in reduced demand for our products and erosion 
of our competitiveness, and impact our operating results and 
financial position.
	 In regard to product supply, while we make predictions for 
consumer demand and design plans related to supply and 
demand based on such factors as consumer preferences, 
there is a possibility that we will not be able to appropriately 
respond to demand in the event that it exceeds the Group’s 
estimations. In such an event, the Group would lose opportu-
nities for sales, and the Group’s brand image would also be 
adversely affected. There is also a possibility that demand for 
the Group’s products would decrease. Such circumstances 
could have an impact on the Group’s business performance 
and financial position.
	 In addition, the Group’s continued success is also depen-
dent on its ability to innovate, which includes maintaining a 
robust pipeline of new products and improving the effective-
ness of product packaging and marketing efforts. While we 
devote significant resources to promoting our brands and new 
product launches, there can be no assurance as to our ability 
to effectively execute our marketing programs in the event of 
changes in the consumer environment. Any failure on our part 
to implement effective sales policies that respond to market 
trends and technological innovations, achieve appropriate 
innovation, or successfully launch new products could de-
crease demand for our products by negatively affecting 
consumer perception of our brands, as well as result in 
inventory write-down and other costs.

(2) Risks related to competition
The beverage and food industry is highly competitive. We 
compete with major international beverage companies that, 
like us, operate in multiple geographic areas, as well as 

numerous companies that are primarily local in operation. 
Large competitors can use their resources and scale to 
rapidly respond to competitive pressures and changes in 
consumer preferences by introducing new products, reducing 
prices or increasing promotional activities. We also compete 
with a variety of regional and private label manufacturers, 
which may have historical strengths in particular geographic 
markets or product categories. Our inability to compete 
effectively could have an impact on our operating results and 
financial condition.

(3) �Risks related to potential acquisitions and  
joint ventures

Identifying and taking advantage of additional acquisition and 
market entry opportunities in Japan, Europe, other developed 
markets, and emerging markets is an important part of our 
growth strategy. Accordingly, we regularly evaluate potential 
acquisitions and joint ventures, some of which are large in 
size or otherwise substantial. Potential issues associated with 
these activities could include, among others:

•	� we may be unable to identify appropriate acquisitions and 
other opportunities or may be unable to agree on terms 
with potential counterparties, due to competing bids among 
other reasons;

•	� we may fail to receive necessary consents, clearances, and 
approvals in connection with an acquisition or joint venture;

•	� we may be unable to raise necessary capital on favorable 
terms;

•	� in entering new geographic markets or product segments, 
we may change our business profile and face challenges 
with which we are unfamiliar or fail to anticipate; and

•	� we may be unable to realize the full extent of the profits or 
cost savings that we expect to realize as a result of an 
acquisition or the formation of a joint venture.

If we do not successfully execute our acquisition and joint 
venture strategy, we may be unable to realize our medium- 
and long-term growth objectives.

(4) Risks related to international operations
Our global operations and ongoing investment in developed 
and especially emerging markets mean we are subject to risks 
involved in international operations generally. Such risks 
include among others:

•	� the need to comply with differing or undeveloped legal, 
regulatory, and tax regimes;

•	 negative economic or political developments;
•	 fluctuations in exchange rates; and
•	� disruptions from extraordinary events such as terrorism, 

political instability, civil unrest, or infectious diseases.

We also intend to leverage our product development expertise 

and existing product portfolio in Japan and key overseas group 
companies to expand our product offerings in other markets. 
However, there can be no assurance that our existing products, 
variants of our existing products, or new products that we 
make, manufacture, market, or sell will be accepted or suc-
cessful in other markets, due to local competition, product 
price, cultural differences, or other factors. If we are unable to 
develop products that appeal to consumers in new markets in 
which we have little or no prior experience, our ability to realize 
our growth objectives could be adversely affected.

(5) �Risks related to business plans and  
management strategies

Although we have established a long-term strategy and 
medium-term plan to achieve medium- and long-term growth, 
there can be no assurance that we will be successful in 
implementing our long-term strategy, or achieving our medi-
um-term plan. In order to implement our long-term strategy 
and achieve our medium-term plan, we will need to achieve 
growth organically and through acquisitions and joint ven-
tures. In addition to the risks we face in sourcing acquisition 
and joint venture opportunities and executing and integrating 
acquisitions and joint ventures as noted in Item (3) above, we 
also face risks in achieving organic growth in our existing 
operations. For example, we may not succeed in implement-
ing our long-term strategy.

(6) Risks related to our product safety
As a beverage and food manufacturer, the safety of our 
products is vital to our business and we strive to comply with 
applicable rules and regulations and ensure that our products 
meet all required quality standards. In addition, we have 
adopted various quality, environmental, and health and safety 
standards in our operations. However, despite our efforts, our 
products may not meet these standards or could otherwise 
become contaminated, resulting in product safety issues. 
Such failure to meet our standards or contamination of our 
products could occur in our own operations or those of 
third-party manufacturers, distributors or suppliers, who we 
do not control. This could result in expensive production 
interruptions, recalls, or liability claims and harm the affected 
brand and our corporate reputation. Moreover, negative 
publicity could be generated from unfounded or nominal 
liability claims or limited recalls.

(7) Risks related to distribution channels
We sell our products through multiple channels, including 
wholesalers and major retail groups. In Japan, our vending 
machine network, among others, is also an important distribu-
tion channel. Challenges we face with respect to our distribu-
tion channels include:

•	� consolidation among wholesalers or retail groups in many 
markets could result in large, sophisticated wholesalers or 
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retailers with strong bargaining power in terms of pricing 
and sales promotions. The loss of significant customers, or 
unfavorable changes to pricing and other terms, could 
adversely affect our results of operations;

•	� independent retailing groups, including those in Japan, are 
introducing competitively priced private label products that 
contribute to intensifying price competition; and

•	� the Japanese market is relatively saturated in terms of 
vending machines, resulting in increased price competition. 
In addition, sales per machine may decrease due to in-
creased competition from an increase in convenience store 
locations.

These risks related to our distribution channels could impact 
our results of operations and financial condition.

(8) Risks related to economic conditions
Unfavorable economic conditions, such as a future recession 
or economic slowdown in Japan or our other major markets, 
could negatively affect the affordability of, and consumer 
demand for, our products. Under challenging economic 
conditions, consumers may seek to reduce discretionary 
spending by forgoing purchases of our products or by shifting 
away from our products to lower-priced offerings from other 
companies. Weak consumer demand for our products in 
Japan or in other major markets could reduce our profitability 
and negatively affect our results of operations and financial 
position.
	 The Japanese government plans to increase the rate of 
consumption tax from the current 8% to 10% in October 
2019. It is unclear what impact these increases will have on 
our sales in Japan or whether we will be able to maintain 
current margin levels following such increases. Furthermore, 
Japan’s long-term demographic trends generally point to an 
aging and declining population. This could have a negative 
impact on consumer demand. If the tax increases or Japan’s 
demographic trends result in decreased demand for our 
products or increased pricing pressure, they may have a 
negative effect on our results of operations and financial 
position.

(9) �Risks related to foreign exchange rate fluctuations
We purchase certain raw materials internationally using 
currencies other than the Japanese yen, principally the U.S. 
dollar. Although we use derivative financial instruments to 
reduce our net exposure to exchange rate fluctuations, such 
hedging instruments do not protect us against all fluctuations 
and our business and financial performance could be ad-
versely affected. In addition, because our consolidated 
financial statements are presented in Japanese yen, we must 
translate revenues, income and expenses, as well as assets 
and liabilities, of overseas subsidiaries into Japanese yen at 
exchange rates in effect during or at the end of each reporting 
period. Therefore, foreign exchange rate fluctuations could 

impact our results of operations and financial position.

(10) Risks related to interest rate fluctuations
We finance a portion of our operations through interest-bearing 
loans and in the future we may conduct debt financing through 
loans, the issuance of corporate bonds, or other means. In 
addition, we may engage in fundraising to finance future 
acquisitions. Although we use fixed-interest transactions and 
derivative instruments to manage our interest rate exposure, 
large increases in interest rates could have an adverse effect on 
our financial condition and results of operations.

(11) Risks related to goodwill and intangible assets
As of December 31, 2018, the Group’s goodwill was ¥250.7 
billion and intangible assets were ¥418.6 billion. Among the 
intangible assets, trademarks were ¥319.0 billion. The majori-
ty of goodwill is related to the acquisition of shares in the 
Orangina Schweppes Group and Japan Beverage Holdings 
Inc. Furthermore, most of the intangible assets are trade-
marks. Most of the trademarks are related to the manufacture 
and sales business of Lucozade and Ribena, which were 
acquired from GlaxoSmithKline plc, and the manufacture and 
sales business of Schweppes, sOrangina, Oasis and other 
products, which were acquired through the acquisition of the 
Orangina Schweppes Group.
	 We may record additional goodwill and intangible assets 
as a result of conducting new acquisitions and joint ventures 
in the future. Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite 
useful lives are not amortized, but are tested for impairment 
each reporting period, or whenever there is any indication of 
impairment. Depending on the result of this test, we are 
required to post an impairment loss. The recording of such an 
impairment loss could have an adverse effect on our results of 
operations and financial position.

(12) Risks related to procurement of raw materials
The principal raw materials we use in our business are alumi-
num and steel cans and ends, glass bottles, PET bottles and 
caps, paperboard packaging, coffee beans, tea leaves, juice, 
fruit, sweeteners, and other ingredients. The price of these 
materials is affected by changes in weather patterns and 
supply and demand in the relevant global markets. Additional-
ly, conversion of raw materials into our products for sale also 
uses electricity and natural gas. The cost of the raw materials 
and energy can fluctuate substantially. Continued increases in 
the prices of these raw materials and energy could exert 
pressure on our costs, and we may not be able to pass along 
any such increases to the sales price of our products, which 
could negatively affect our business, results of operations, 
and financial position.
	 In addition, some raw materials we use are sourced from 
industries characterized by a limited supply base. Although 
we believe we have strong relationships with our suppliers, we 
could suffer raw material shortages if they are unable to meet 

our requirements. The failure of our suppliers to meet our 
needs could occur for many reasons, including climate 
change, adverse weather conditions, natural disasters, fires, 
crop failures, epidemic, strikes, manufacturing problems, 
transportation issues, supply interruptions, government 
regulation, political instability, and terrorism. Some of these 
risks may be more acute in cases in which the supplier or its 
facilities are located in countries or regions where there is a 
high risk that the aforementioned circumstances will occur. 
Changing suppliers can require long lead times and any 
significant interruption to supply over an extended period of 
time could substantially harm our business, results of opera-
tions, and financial position.

(13) Risks related to water supply
Water is the main ingredient in substantially all our products 
and water resources in many parts of the world are facing 
unprecedented challenges from population pressures, pollution, 
poor management, and the impact of climate change. As 
demand for water resources increases around the world, 
companies that depend on abundant water resources, includ-
ing us, may face increased production costs or capacity 
constraints which could adversely affect our profitability or 
growth strategy over the long term.

(14) Risks related to weather conditions
Sales of certain types of our products are significantly influ-
enced by weather conditions. We ordinarily record our highest 
sales volume levels during hotter weather in the spring and 
summer months, but unseasonably cool weather conditions 
during this period could depress demand for our products 
and negatively impact our results of operations and financial 
position.

(15) Risks related to corporate social responsibilities
Recognizing that the global natural environment constitutes 
one of our management resources, we are working in earnest 
to implement environmental preservation activities, in an effort 
to hand a sustainable society to future generations. We are 
striving to thoroughly reduce water usage, cut CO2 emissions, 
convert waste materials into useful resources, and recycle 
containers. In the course of executing business operations, 
we comply with various related environmental regulations. 
Also, we are working with our suppliers to promote procure-
ment activities that take into account social responsibilities 
such as those related to human rights, labor standards, and 
the environment. However, our results of operations and 
financial position could be negatively affected if, despite our 
efforts, any of the following were to occur in relation to our 
business activities and supply chain: Global environmental 
problems due to global climate change, resource depletion, 
and other issues; issue of marine plastic; environmental 
pollution caused by accidents, mishaps, and other events; 
higher cost outlays for investment in new equipment and 

production quantity restrictions mainly due to amendments in 
relevant laws and regulations; and problems concerning 
human rights such as occupational health and safety, and 
child labor.

(16) Risks related to supply chains
We and our business partners source materials and conduct 
manufacturing activities globally. Using supply chain manage-
ment techniques to manage proper quality, lower costs and 
improve profitability is one element of our business strategy, 
but we may not be able to achieve the targeted efficiencies, 
due to factors beyond our control. Damage or disruption to 
our manufacturing or distribution capabilities due to any of the 
following could impair our ability to make, manufacture, 
distribute, or sell our products: climate change; adverse 
weather conditions; natural disasters; fires; crop failures; 
epidemic; strikes; manufacturing problems; transportation 
issues; supply interruptions; government regulation; govern-
ment action; infectious diseases; industrial accidents or other 
occupational health and safety issues; labor shortages; 
political instability; and terrorism. Failure to take adequate 
steps to mitigate the likelihood or potential impact of such 
events, or to effectively manage such events if they occur, 
could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and 
results of operations, as well as require additional resources 
to restore our supply chain.

(17) �Risks related to management team and employees
Our continued growth requires us to hire, retain, and develop 
our leadership driven management team and highly skilled 
workforce. We must hire talented new employees and then 
train them and develop their skills and competencies. Any 
unplanned turnover or our failure to develop an adequate 
succession plan for current management positions could 
deplete our institutional knowledge base and erode our 
competitive advantage. Our operating results and financial 
position could be adversely affected by increased costs due 
to increased competition for employees, higher employee 
turnover, increased employee benefit costs or impediments to 
employee health, etc. that could arise from not being able to 
adequately perform labor management.

(18) �Risks related to  
employee retirement benefit obligations

Our post-employment benefit expenses, post-employment 
benefit obligations and plan assets are calculated based on 
actuarial assumptions and estimates such as an assumed 
discount rate. A divergence of actual results from our as-
sumptions or estimates, or a change in those assumptions 
and estimates, could adversely affect our results of operations 
and financial position.

(19) �Risks related to information systems and services
We depend on key information systems and services to 
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accurately and efficiently transact our business, interface with 
customers, provide information to management, and prepare 
financial reports, among other activities. In addition, we rely 
on third-party providers, including a subsidiary of Suntory 
Holdings Limited, for a number of key information systems 
and business processing services. Although we have imple-
mented policies and procedures to increase the security of 
these systems and services, they are vulnerable to interrup-
tions or other failures resulting from, among other things, 
hardware, software, equipment, or telecommunications 
defects and failures, processing errors, earthquakes and other 
natural disasters, terrorists attacks, computer virus infections, 
computer hacking, unauthorized access with malicious 
intentions, or any other security issues or supplier defaults. 
Security, backup, and disaster recovery measures may not be 
adequate or implemented properly to avoid such disruptions 
or failures. In the event that such breakdowns or faults occur, 
this could adversely affect our results of operations and 
financial position.

(20) Risks related to legal compliance
We are subject to a variety of national and local laws and 
regulations in Japan, Europe, Asia, Oceania, the Americas, 
and the other regions in which we do business. These laws 
and regulations apply to many aspects of our business 
activities, including the manufacture, labeling, transportation, 
advertising, and sale of our products. In particular, if an 
accident or non-compliance with these laws or regulations 
results in environmental pollution, we could be subject to 
claims or sanctions and incur increased costs. Due to our 
global operations, we must also comply with anti-corruption 
provisions of Japanese law or foreign statutes. Violations of 
applicable laws or regulations could damage our reputation or 
result in regulatory or private actions with substantial penalties 
or damages. In addition, any significant change in such laws 
or regulations or their interpretation, or the introduction of 
higher standards or more stringent laws or regulations, could 
result in increased compliance costs.
	 Recently, a number of jurisdictions have introduced or 
have been considering measures such as special excise taxes 
and new labeling requirements, serving sizes, or other restric-
tions on the sale of sweetened soft drinks including carbonat-
ed soft drinks on health grounds. Although we believe our 
product portfolio has a much higher proportion of non-car-
bonated and healthy products as compared to other global 
beverage firms, any such regulatory measures could adversely 
affect our results of operations and financial position.

(21) Risks related to the reputation of our brands
Maintaining a good reputation globally is critical to selling our 
branded products. Product contamination or tampering; the 
failure to maintain high standards for product quality, safety 
and integrity, including with respect to raw materials and 
ingredients obtained from suppliers; allegations of product 

quality issues, mislabeling or contamination, even if untrue; or 
negative opinions spread by the mass media or on the inter-
net, may harm our reputation and reduce demand for our 
products or cause production and sales disruptions. If any of 
our products fail to meet health or safety standards, cause 
injury to consumers or are mislabeled, we may have to en-
gage in a product recall and/or be subject to liability. Further-
more, Suntory Holdings Limited and other Suntory Group 
companies not under our control also use the “Suntory” 
brand. Similar problems or compliance failures in Suntory 
Holdings Limited or other Suntory Group companies, or 
issues related to, for example, compliance at one of our 
contractors, could also contribute to negative perceptions of 
our brand. Damage to our reputation or loss of consumer 
confidence in our products for any of these or other reasons 
could result in decreased demand for our products and could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, and results of operations, as well as require addi-
tional resources to rebuild our reputation.

(22) Risks related to intellectual property
We license the “Suntory” brand from our Parent, Suntory 
Holdings Limited, and expect to continue to do so in the 
future. If our license is terminated, including because we are 
no longer a subsidiary of our Parent, our corporate image and 
marketing efforts could be impacted, and we could be re-
quired to make a significant investment in rebranding.
	 We also license various other trademarks from third 
parties and license our own trademarks to third parties.
	 For trademarks licensed from third parties, the licensor 
may terminate the license arrangement or other agreements. 
	 Consequently, we may no longer be able to manufacture 
or sell the related products. The termination of any material 
license arrangement or other agreements could adversely 
affect our results of operations and financial position.
	 For trademarks licensed to third parties, problems could 
occur with respect to the use of trademarks and related 
products by these third parties. This could have an impact on 
our use of the trademarks and the reputation of our brands. In 
regions where we have not registered our trademarks, third 
parties may own or use the same or similar trademarks to our 
own. In the event that problems occur with respect to the use 
of trademarks or related products by these third parties, this 
could adversely affect our brands, and could have an impact 
on our results of operations and financial position.
	 We also possess other intellectual property that is import-
ant to our business. This intellectual property includes trade-
marks, copyrights, patents, and other trade secrets. We and 
third parties could come into conflict over intellectual property 
rights. Conflict could disrupt our business and cost a sub-
stantial amount to protect our rights or defend ourselves 
against claims. We cannot be certain that the steps we take 
to protect our rights will be sufficient or that others will not 
infringe or misappropriate our rights. If we are unable to 

protect our intellectual property rights, our brands, products, 
and business could be harmed.

(23) Risks associated with control by the Parent
As of March 29, 2019, our Parent, Suntory Holdings Limited, 
owned 59.48% of the outstanding shares of our common 
stock, and accordingly, has control, or a veto right with 
respect to fundamental decisions such as election and remov-
al of our Directors, the approval of joint ventures or other 

business reorganizations, the transfer of material businesses, 
amendments to our Articles of Incorporation, and the declara-
tion of dividends.
	 Suntory Holdings Limited could continue to influence the 
determination of all matters that require the approval of the 
general meeting of shareholders, regardless of the intentions 
of other shareholders. Our management makes decisions 
independently of our Parent, with no matters requiring the 
Parent’s prior approval.

1) �Details on our main relationships with Suntory Holdings Limited and other subsidiaries are as follows:

Type of transaction Counterparty
Amount 

(millions of yen) Method used to determine transaction terms

Outsourcing of 
product shipping

Suntory Logistics Ltd. 25,232
Determined by discussions between the parties after consider-
ing the quality and market price of similar services

Payment of 
brand royalties

Suntory Holdings Limited 21,787
The rate of royalty was determined by discussions between the 
parties after considering the brand value and other factors

Purchase of 
coffee beans

Suntory Coffee Roastery LTD. 10,364
Determined by discussions between the parties after consider-
ing the quality and market price of similar products.

With respect to transactions with the Suntory Group, the legal 
affairs division and the accounting division confirm in advance 
the necessity of a transaction as well as the validity of its 
terms and conditions and the method of determination. In 
addition, from the standpoint of ensuring our independence 
from Suntory Holdings Limited, we engage in ample delibera-
tion at Board of Directors meetings, attended by several 
independent Outside Directors, in regard to transactions that 
are deemed particularly important. These deliberations ad-
dress the necessity and validity of such a transaction, and 
decisions are made upon the completion of the deliberations. 
Moreover, in regard to whether or not transactions based on 
the content of these deliberations are actually being carried 
out, the internal audit division conducts ex-post evaluations of 
the transaction’s content and the Audit & Supervisory Com-
mittee performs audits. In this way, we have developed a 
framework to ensure sound and appropriate terms for trans-
actions with the Suntory Group.

2) �Posts held concurrently at  
Suntory Holdings Limited by our officers

Among our Directors, Director Nobuhiro Torii concurrently 
serves as Executive Vice President of Suntory Holdings 
Limited. This appointment was made in the hope that his 
extensive track record over many years as a business manag-
er in the Suntory Group and his wide-ranging insights and 
experience in all areas of management, will contribute further 
strengthening the functioning of the Board of Directors.

3) �Acceptance of seconded personnel (employees) from 
Suntory Holdings Limited

Among our personnel, a certain number of full-time employ-

ees other than employees at the managerial level and above 
are seconded from Suntory Holdings Limited. As of December 
31, 2018, there were approximately 250 employees seconded 
to us from Suntory Holdings Limited. In addition, all of our 
employees at the managerial level and above are registered 
with us. Employees seconded from Suntory Holdings Limited 
will become SBF employees upon promotion to the manageri-
al level and above.

4) �Trademarks, patents, and  
comprehensive licensing agreements

We have entered into a licensing agreement with Suntory 
Holdings Limited regarding our use of the “Suntory” corporate 
brand. Based on this agreement, we are licensed to use the 
“Suntory” name and brand. Under the terms of the agree-
ment, our use of the “Suntory” brand remains effective as long 
as we remain part of the Suntory Group. Based on the agree-
ment, we are paying brand royalties to Suntory Holdings 
Limited.
		  Also, for the Suntory Group to facilitate the effective 
use of intellectual property rights and promote optimization by 
focusing on maintaining these rights, Suntory Holdings 
Limited holds a portion of the intellectual property rights such 
as patents, designs, and trademarks related to our business 
and we are granted exclusive licensing rights, etc., by Suntory 
Holdings Limited. We do not pay Suntory Holdings Limited 
royalties for the aforementioned exclusive licensing rights, etc. 
Furthermore, were this arrangement to come to an end, these 
intellectual property rights would be transferred without 
compensation from Suntory Holdings Limited to us.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Suntory Beverage & Food Limited and its subsidiaries
As at December 31, 2018

Millions of yen

Notes 2017 2018

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 113,883 146,535

Trade and other receivables 8, 33 176,653 184,900

Other financial assets 9, 33 11,793 984

Inventories 10 81,015 85,766

Other current assets 11 25,487 25,149

Subtotal 408,832 443,336

Assets held for sale 12 22,081 27

Total current assets 430,914 443,363

Non-current assets:

Property, plant and equipment 13 354,216 375,382

Goodwill 14 254,025 250,685

Intangible assets 14 432,814 418,562

Investments accounted for using the equity method 15 1,233 1,216

Other financial assets 9, 33 20,460 20,955

Deferred tax assets 16 12,701 14,291

Other non-current assets 11 15,663 14,959

Total non-current assets 1,091,115 1,096,052

Total assets 1,522,029 1,539,416

Millions of yen

Notes 2017 2018

Liabilities and equity

Liabilities:

Current liabilities:

Bonds and borrowings 17, 33 95,654 75,437 

Trade and other payables 19, 33 289,521 303,783 

Other financial liabilities 18, 20, 33 32,678 30,736 

Accrued income taxes 18,773 18,445 

Provisions 22 1,385 2,074 

Other current liabilities 8,860 8,639 

Subtotal 446,873 439,117 

Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale 12 6,215 ̶
Total current liabilities 453,088 439,117 

Non-current liabilities:

Bonds and borrowings 17, 33 211,375 195,436 

Other financial liabilities 18, 20, 33 25,306 20,150 

Post-employment benefit liabilities 21 11,888 13,258 

Provisions 22 2,913 2,702 

Deferred tax liabilities 16 66,001 63,494 

Other non-current liabilities 5,253 6,377 

Total non-current liabilities 322,738 301,421 

Total liabilities 775,827 740,538 

Equity:

Share capital 23 168,384 168,384 

Share premium 23 182,404 182,349 

Retained earnings 23 364,274 420,638 

Other components of equity 23 (24,625) (56,548)

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company 690,437 714,823 

Non-controlling interests 55,763 84,054 

Total equity 746,201 798,877 

Total liabilities and equity 1,522,029 1,539,416 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
Suntory Beverage & Food Limited and its subsidiaries
For the year ended December 31, 2018

Suntory Beverage & Food Limited and its subsidiaries
For the year ended December 31, 2018

Millions of yen

Notes 2017 2018

Revenue 6, 25 1,234,008 1,294,256 

Cost of sales 10, 13, 14, 21 (697,789) (758,724)

Gross profit 536,219 535,532 

Selling, general and administrative expenses 13, 14, 21, 26 (412,444) (424,897)

Gain on investments accounted for using the equity method 15 447 137 

Other income 14, 27 5,862 14,591 

Other expenses 13, 14, 28 (12,129) (11,806)

Operating income 6 117,955 113,557 

Finance income 29, 33 871 1,032 

Finance costs 29, 33 (4,384) (2,777)

Profit before tax 114,442 111,813 

Income tax expense 16 (28,267) (22,979)

Profit for the year 86,175 88,833 

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the Company (Note 1) 78,112 80,024 

Non-controlling interests 8,062 8,808 

Profit for the year 86,175 88,833 

Yen

Note 2017 2018

Earnings per share 31 252.79 258.98

Millions of yen

Notes 2017 2018

Profit for the year 86,175 88,833 

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Changes in the fair value of financial assets 30, 33 388 (614)

Remeasurement of post-employment benefit plans 21, 30 755 (205)

Total 1,144 (820)

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Translation adjustments of foreign operations 30 24,913 (32,635)

Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges 30, 33 512 806 

Changes in comprehensive income of investments accounted for  
   using the equity method

15, 30 66 (56)

Total 30 25,492 (31,885)

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year, net of tax 30 26,637 (32,705)

Comprehensive income for the year 112,812 56,128 

Comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the Company (Note 1) 105,776 48,233 

Non-controlling interests 7,036 7,895 

Comprehensive income for the year 112,812 56,128 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Suntory Beverage & Food Limited and its subsidiaries
For the year ended December 31, 2018

Millions of yen

Notes

Attributable to owners of the Company (Note 1)

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total equity
Share

capital
Share 

premium
Retained 
earnings

Other 
components 

of equity Total

Balance at December 31, 2016 168,384 182,326 309,582 (51,507) 608,784 54,030 662,815 

Cumulative effect of adoption of 
   new accounting standards

(716) (716) (0) (716)

Balance at January 1, 2017 168,384 182,326 309,582 (52,224) 608,068 54,030 662,098 

Profit for the year 78,112 78,112 8,062 86,175 

Other comprehensive income (loss) 27,663 27,663 (1,026) 26,637 

Total comprehensive income for the year ̶ ̶ 78,112 27,663 105,776 7,036 112,812 

Dividends 24 (23,484) (23,484) (5,397) (28,881)

Transactions with 
   non-controlling interests 

77 77 95 172 

Reclassifications to retained earnings 9 64 (64) ̶ ̶
Total transactions with 
   owners of the Company (Note 1)

̶ 77 (23,419) (64) (23,406) (5,302) (28,708)

Balance at December 31, 2017 168,384 182,404 364,274 (24,625) 690,437 55,763 746,201 

Profit for the year 80,024 80,024 8,808 88,833 

Other comprehensive loss (31,791) (31,791) (913) (32,705)

Total comprehensive income (loss) 
   for the year

̶ ̶ 80,024 (31,791) 48,233 7,895 56,128 

Dividends 24 (23,793) (23,793) (6,516) (30,309)

Increase due to 
   business combinations

7 ̶ 26,881 26,881 

Transactions with 
   non-controlling interests 

(54) (54) 30 (24)

Reclassifications to retained earnings 9 131 (131) ̶ ̶
Total transactions with 
   owners of the Company (Note 1)

̶ (54) (23,661) (131) (23,847) 20,394 (3,453)

Balance at December 31, 2018 168,384 182,349 420,638 (56,548) 714,823 84,054 798,877 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Suntory Beverage & Food Limited and its subsidiaries
For the year ended December 31, 2018

Millions of yen

Notes 2017 2018

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 114,442 111,813 

Depreciation and amortization 63,934 63,319 

Impairment losses 184 4,177 

Interest and dividends income (871) (893)

Interest expense 2,724 2,365 

Gain on investments accounted for using the equity method (447) (137)

Gain on sale of subsidiaries ̶ (12,038)

Increase in inventories (7,887) (4,855)

Increase in trade and other receivables (1,425) (4,946)

Increase in trade and other payables 6,453 7,933 

Other 3,446 7,211 

Subtotal 180,554 173,949 

Interest and dividends received 833 850 

Interest paid (2,813) (2,405)

Income tax paid (29,061) (26,040)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 149,513 146,354 

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (55,339) (56,929)

Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 787 715 

Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries 7 ̶ (26,719)

Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries 7 ̶ 24,216 

Other 14 1,593 173 

Net cash used in investing activities (52,958) (58,543)

Cash flows from financing activities

Increase in short-term borrowings 32 8,751 4,073 

Proceeds from long-term borrowings 32 26,642 9,500 

Repayment of long-term borrowings 32 (61,905) (63,027)

Proceeds from issuance of bonds 32 ̶ 29,883 

Payments of finance lease liabilities 32 (8,404) (6,998)

Dividends paid to owners of the Company (Note 1) 24 (23,484) (23,793)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (5,397) (6,516)

Payments for acquisition of shares of subsidiaries (171) (44)

Other 374 54 

Net cash used in financing activities (63,593) (56,868)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 32,961 30,941 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 84,096 113,883 

Reversal of cash and cash equivalents included in assets held for sale 12 ̶ 3,439 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 84,096 117,322 

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 265 (1,728)

Cash and cash equivalents included in assets held for sale 12 (3,439) ̶
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 113,883 146,535 

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to consolidated financial statements
Suntory Beverage & Food Limited and its subsidiaries

1. Reporting entity

Suntory Beverage & Food Limited (the “Company”) is a 
company incorporated in Japan and listed in the first section 
of the Tokyo Stock Exchange. The Company is a 59.48% 
owned subsidiary of Suntory Holdings Limited (the “Parent”), a 
non-listed holdings company that was established on Febru-
ary 16, 2009, through a stock transfer from Suntory Limited 
(currently, Suntory Spirits Limited), a company founded in 
Japan in 1899. The Parent and its subsidiaries (together, the 
“Suntory Group”) produce and distribute various popular 
brands of beverages in various alcoholic and non-alcoholic 
beverage and food categories. Kotobuki Realty Co., Ltd. is 
the ultimate parent company of the Suntory Group. The 
Company was established on January 23, 2009 and com-

menced the non-alcoholic beverage and food business of the 
Suntory Group on April 1, 2009. Such business was trans-
ferred to the Company by way of corporate split with Suntory 
Limited in connection with the reorganization of the Suntory 
Group, which adopted the holdings company structure 
mentioned above. The addresses of its registered offices and 
locations of principal offices are disclosed on our website 
(URL https://www.suntory.co.jp/softdrink/). The Company and 
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) operate the beverage and food 
segment of the Suntory Group by manufacturing and distrib-
uting the products. Principal activities of the Group are 
described in “Note 6. Segment information.”

2. Basis of preparation

The Group’s consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRSs”). The consolidated financial statements 
were approved by the President & Chief Executive Officer and 
Director, Senior Managing Executive Officer, Division COO and 

Corporate Strategy Division on March 18, 2019. 
	 The Group’s consolidated financial statements are pre-
pared on the cost basis, except for the financial instruments 
and other items that are measured at fair value as described 
in “Note 3. Significant accounting policies.”

3. Significant accounting policies

(1) Basis of consolidation
The Group’s consolidated financial statements with the fiscal 
closing date of December 31 are composed of the Company 
and its 96 subsidiaries (102 as at December 31, 2017), 
together with the Group’s attributable share of the results of 9 
associates (9 as at December 31, 2017). 
	 A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. The 
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to 
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has 
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the 
entity. The Group’s subsidiaries are included in the scope of 
consolidation, which begins when it obtains control over a 
subsidiary and ceases when it loses control of the subsidiary. 
Disposal of the Group’s ownership interests in a subsidiary 
that does not result in the Group losing control over the 
subsidiary is accounted for as an equity transaction. Any 
difference between the amount of adjustment to non-con-
trolling interests and the fair value of the consideration paid or 
received is recognized directly in equity and is attributed to 
owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests of the 
subsidiaries are identified separately from ownership interests 
attributable to the Group. Comprehensive income of subsid-
iaries is attributed to owners of the Company and non-con-
trolling interests, even when comprehensive income attributed 
to non-controlling interests results in a negative balance.

	 An associate is an entity over which the Group has signifi-
cant influence, which is the power to participate in the finan-
cial and operating policy of the entity, but does not have 
control or joint control of those policies. Investments in an 
associate are initially recognized at cost upon the acquisition 
and are subsequently accounted for using the equity method. 
Investments in an associate include goodwill recognized upon 
the acquisition, net of accumulated impairment losses.
	 A joint venture is an entity jointly controlled by two or 
more parties including the Group under the contractually 
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement over economic 
activities of the joint venture, which exists only when decisions 
for strategic financial and operating decisions related to 
relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties 
sharing control. A joint venture of the Group is accounted for 
using the equity method.

(2) Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisi-
tion method. The acquisition cost is measured as the sum of 
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred, 
liabilities assumed, and the equity financial instruments issued 
by the Company in exchange for control of the acquiree. 
Excess of the acquisition cost over the Group’s share of the 
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the 

investee is recognized as goodwill in the consolidated state-
ment of financial position. Conversely, any excess of the 
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets 
and liabilities of the investee over the acquisition cost is 
immediately recognized as income in the consolidated state-
ment of profit or loss. The Group accounts for the acquisition 
of additional non-controlling interests as an equity transaction, 
and accordingly, it does not recognize goodwill attributable to 
such transactions.

Identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are 
recognized at their fair value at the acquisition date, except 
for the following:
• �Deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities 

associated with employee benefit arrangements; and
• �Assets or disposal groups that are classified as held for sale 

in accordance with IFRS 5, “Noncurrent Assets Held for 
Sale and Discontinued Operations.”

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to a business 
combination, such as agent, legal, and due diligence fees, are 
expensed as incurred.

(3) Foreign currencies
Items included in the financial statements of each of the 
Group entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (the 
“functional currency”). In preparing the separate financial 
statements of each entity, a transaction denominated in a 
currency other than the entity’s functional currency is translat-
ed into its functional currency using the exchange rate that 
approximates the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the 
transaction. The consolidated financial statements are pre-
sented in Japanese yen, which is the Company’s functional 
currency. Amounts presented in the consolidated financial 
statements are rounded down to the nearest million yen.
	 Assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are 
translated into Japanese yen using exchange rates prevailing 
at the reporting date (“Closing rates”). Income and expense 
items are translated into Japanese yen at the average ex-
change rates for the reporting period (“Average rates”). Any 
exchange differences arising from translation of the financial 
statements of the Group’s foreign operations are recognized 
in other comprehensive income. Any exchange differences 
arising from translation of the Group’s foreign operation 
disposed are recognized in profit or loss for the reporting 
period in which that foreign operation is disposed of.
	 At the end of each reporting period, monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
using the exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. Any 
exchange differences arising from translation or settlement of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign curren-
cies are recognized in profit or loss. However, exchange differ-
ences arising from translation or settlement of financial assets 

measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(“FVTOCI”) and cash flow hedges are recognized in other 
comprehensive income.

The exchange rates between principal foreign currencies and 
the Japanese yen that were used for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2017 and 2018 were as follows:

Yen

2017 2018

U.S. Dollar:

Average rates 112.2 110.4

Closing rates 113.0 111.0

Euro:

Average rates 126.7 130.4

Closing rates 134.9 127.0

Pound Sterling:

Average rates 144.5 147.4

Closing rates 152.0 140.5

Singapore Dollar:

Average rates 81.3 81.9

Closing rates 84.5 81.0

Thai Baht:

Average rates 3.3 3.4

Closing rates 3.5 3.4

Vietnam Dong:

Average rates 0.0049 0.0048

Closing rates 0.0050 0.0048

New Zealand Dollar:

Average rates 79.7 76.4

Closing rates 80.2 74.5

Australian Dollar:

Average rates 86.0 82.6

Closing rates 88.2 78.2

(4) Financial instruments
a. Financial assets
( i ) Initial recognition and measurement
The Group initially recognizes trade and other receivables at 
the originated date. Other financial assets are initially recog-
nized at the transaction date when the Group becomes a 
party to the contractual provision for the financial instruments. 
Financial assets are classified into the following specific 
categories: financial assets measured at fair value through 
profit or loss (“FVTPL”) or fair value through other comprehen-
sive income (“FVTOCI”) and financial assets measured at 
amortized cost. The classification is determined at the initial 
recognition. 
	 All financial assets, excluding financial assets classified as 
measured at FVTPL, are measured at their fair value plus 
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transaction costs. Financial assets are classified as measured 
at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are met:
• �The financial assets are held within a business model whose 

objective is to hold the asset in order to collect contractual 
cash flows; and

• �The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

Financial assets other than those measured at amortized cost 
are classified as financial assets measured at fair value. For 
financial assets measured at fair value other than equity 
instruments held for trading that should be measured at 
FVTPL, each equity instrument is designated as measured at 
FVTPL or FVTOCI. Such designation is continuously applied.

(ii) Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets measured at 
amortized cost are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. Financial assets measured at fair 
value are remeasured at fair value. Any gain or loss on finan-
cial assets measured at fair value is recognized in profit or 
loss. However, changes in the fair value of equity instruments 
designated as measured at FVTOCI are recognized in other 
comprehensive income, and the changes are reclassified to 
retained earnings when equity instruments are derecognized 
or when there is a significant decline in their fair value. Divi-
dends from such financial assets are recognized as part of 
finance income in profit or loss for the year.

(iii) Impairment
For impairment of financial assets measured at amortized 
cost, the Group recognizes a loss allowance against expected 
credit losses on such financial assets. At each reporting date, 
financial assets are assessed to determine whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial asset 
subsequent to initial recognition. 
	 If the credit risk on financial assets has not increased 
significantly subsequent to initial recognition, a loss allowance 
is measured at an amount equal to 12 months of expected 
credit losses. On the other hand, if the credit risk on financial 
assets has increased significantly subsequent to initial recog-
nition, a loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 
the lifetime expected credit losses. However, a loss allowance 
for trade and other receivables is always measured at an 
amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses. Expected 
credit losses on financial assets are assessed based on 
objective evidence which reflects changes in credit informa-
tion, and past due information of receivables. An impairment 
loss is recognized in profit or loss. If any event resulting in a 
decrease of impairment losses occurs after the recognition of 
impairment losses, impairment gains are recognized through 
profit or loss. The carrying amount of financial assets, net of 
any cumulative impairment losses, presented in the consoli-

dated financial statements represents the maximum exposure 
of the Group’s financial assets to credit risk, without consider-
ing value of associated collaterals obtained.

(iv) Derecognition
The Group derecognizes financial assets when the contractual 
rights of the cash flows from the assets expire, or when it 
substantially transfers all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the assets to another party. If the Group continues to 
control the transferred assets, the Group continues to recog-
nize the asset, and related liabilities, to the extent of its 
continuing involvement.

b. Financial liabilities
( i ) Initial recognition and measurement
The Group initially recognizes bonds and borrowings at the 
issuance date, and other financial liabilities at the transaction 
date. Financial liabilities are classified into either subsequently 
measured at FVTPL or amortized cost. The classifications are 
determined at initial recognition. All of the financial liabilities 
are initially measured at fair value, and any directly attributable 
transaction costs are further deducted from the fair value of 
financial liabilities measured at amortized cost.

(ii) Subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL include those held for 
trading purposes and those designated as measured at 
FVTPL upon initial recognition. Such financial liabilities mea-
sured at FVTPL are subsequently measured at fair value, with 
changes recognized in profit or loss for the reporting period. 
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are subse-
quently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. A gain or loss on financial liabilities no longer 
amortized using the effective interest method and derecog-
nized is recognized as part of finance costs in profit or loss for 
the reporting period.

(iii) Derecognition
Financial liabilities are derecognized when they are extin-
guished, i.e., when the obligations specified in the contract 
are discharged, cancelled, or expired.

c. Presentation of financial assets and liabilities 
Financial assets and liabilities are presented at their net 
amount in the consolidated statement of financial position 
only when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset 
the financial asset and liability balances and it intends either 
to settle on a net basis or to realize financial assets and settle 
financial liabilities simultaneously.

d. Derivatives and hedge accounting
The Group utilizes derivatives, such as foreign exchange 
contracts and interest rate swap contracts, to hedge foreign 
exchange and interest rate risks, respectively. Derivatives are 

initially measured at fair value upon execution of a contract 
and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.
	 At the inception of a hedging relationship, the Group 
formally designates and documents the hedging relationship 
to which it applies hedge accounting and its risk management 
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. That docu-
mentation includes identification of a specific hedging instru-
ment, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk 
being hedged, and how the entity will test the effectiveness of 
changes in fair value of the hedging instrument in offsetting 
the exposure to fair value or cash flow changes of the hedged 
item attributable to the hedged risks. These hedges are 
presumed to be highly effective in offsetting fair value or cash 
flow changes. Further, continuing assessments are made as 
to whether the hedges are highly effective over all of the 
reporting periods of such designation. 
	 If the hedging relationship does not meet the hedge 
effectiveness requirements in terms of hedge ratios due to a 
change in an economic relationship between the hedged item 
and the hedging instrument, despite the risk management 
objective remaining unchanged, the hedge ratio will be adjust-
ed to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement. If the hedg-
ing relationship no longer meets the hedge effectiveness 
requirement in spite of the hedge ratio adjustment, hedge 
accounting is discontinued for the portion of the hedge 
relationship that no longer meets the requirement. 
	 The hedges that meet the hedge accounting criteria are 
classified and are accounted for under IFRS 9, “Financial 
Instruments” (hereinafter, “IFRS 9”) as follows:

( i ) Fair value hedges
Changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are 
recognized in profit or loss in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. However, changes in fair value of a hedged item 
that is an equity instrument designated as measured at 
FVTOCI are recognized in other comprehensive income in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. For chang-
es in fair value of the hedged item attributable to the risk 
being hedged, such changes are adjusted with the carrying 
amount of the hedged item and are recognized in profit or 
loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. However, 
changes in fair value of an equity instrument with an election 
to present such changes in other comprehensive income are 
recognized in other comprehensive income in the consolidat-
ed statement of comprehensive income.

(ii) Cash flow hedges
The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that 
is determined to be an effective hedge is recognized in other 
comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. The portion of the gain or loss on the 
hedging instrument that is hedge ineffective is immediately 
recognized in profit or loss in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. The amount of the hedging instrument recog-

nized in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit 
or loss at the point a hedged future transaction affects profit 
or loss. If the hedged item gives rise to the recognition of a 
non-financial asset or liability, the amount recognized in other 
comprehensive income is removed to adjust the original 
carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability. 
	 If a forecasted hedge transaction or firm commitment is 
no longer expected to arise, the cumulative gains and losses 
previously recognized in equity through other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to profit or loss. If hedged future cash 
flows are still expected to arise, the cumulative gains and 
losses previously recognized in equity through other compre-
hensive income remain in equity until such future cash flows 
arise.

(5) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash in 
banks that can be withdrawn at any time, and short-term 
investments with a maturity of three months or less from the 
acquisition date which are readily convertible into cash and 
are exposed to insignificant risk in changes in value.

(6) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable 
value. The net realizable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of 
completion and the costs necessary to make the sale. The 
cost of inventories is principally determined using the average 
basis, comprising all costs of purchase and conversion and 
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present 
location and condition.

(7) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumu-
lated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
The cost of property, plant and equipment comprises any 
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the item, the 
initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the 
item and restoring the site on which it is located, and borrow-
ing costs that should be capitalized. Depreciation on an item 
of property, plant and equipment, other than land and con-
struction in progress, are recognized on a straight-line basis 
over its estimated useful life. The range of estimated useful 
lives by major asset item are as follows:
• Buildings and structures	 5 to 50 years
• Machinery, equipment and vehicles	 2 to 17 years
• Tools, furniture and fixtures	 2 to 15 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values, and depreciation 
methods are reviewed at each reporting date. Any change is 
treated as a change in accounting estimate and is accounted 
for prospectively.
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(8) Intangible assets
Intangible assets are measured at cost at initial recognition. 
Upon initial recognition, intangible assets, exclusive of intangi-
ble assets with indefinite useful lives, are amortized on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, and are 
stated at their carrying amounts, i.e., at cost less accumulat-
ed amortization and any accumulated impairment losses.
The estimated useful lives of principal intangible assets with 
definite useful lives are as follows: 
• Trademarks	 20 years
• Computer software	 2 to 10 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values, and amortization 
methods are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. 
Any change is treated as a change in accounting estimates 
and is accounted for prospectively.
	 Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amor-
tized, but are tested for impairment in each reporting period, 
or if there is any indication of impairment.
	 Goodwill is measured at the acquisition date as the 
excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the 
value of any non-controlling interests, and the fair value of any 
previously held equity interest in the subsidiary acquired over 
the fair value of the identifiable net assets (i.e., net of identifi-
able assets acquired and the liabilities assumed). Goodwill is 
not amortized, but is tested for impairment in each reporting 
period, or if there is any indication of impairment.

(9) Leases
Where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of an asset subject to a lease, the lease is classi-
fied as a finance lease. Assets held under a finance lease are 
initially recognized at the lower of the fair value of leased 
assets and the present value of minimum lease payments, 
which are determined at the inception of the lease. Subse-
quent to the initial recognition, the leased asset is depreciated 
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and its lease term 
based on the applicable accounting policies for the asset. 
Lease payments under finance leases are allocated to finance 
costs and the repayment of the lease obligations is based on 
the effective interest method. Finance costs are expensed in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
	 Other leases are classified as operating leases. Lease 
payments for an operating lease transaction are recognized as 
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(10) Impairment of non-financial assets
The carrying amount of a non-financial asset of the Group, 
exclusive of inventories and deferred tax assets, is assessed 
at each reporting date to test whether there is any indication 
that the asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. Further, 
the recoverable amount is estimated annually at the same 

time every year for goodwill and intangible assets with 
indefinite useful lives and intangible assets that are not yet 
available for use.
	 The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating 
unit is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its 
value in use. In determining the value in use, estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate (or rates) that reflect(s) current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset. Non-financial assets not tested for impairment 
on an individual basis are grouped into the smallest cash-gen-
erating unit that generates cash inflows from the continued 
use of the asset, which are largely independent of those from 
other assets or asset groups. In performing impairment 
testing on goodwill, an entity groups cash-generating units to 
which goodwill is allocated to perform impairment testing in a 
manner that reflects the smallest unit to which it relates. 
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to 
each of the cash-generating units, or groups of cash generat-
ing units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of 
the combination. Corporate assets of the Group do not gener-
ate independent cash inflows. If there is any indication that a 
corporate asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit to which the corporate asset belongs 
is determined.
	 Impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss when the 
carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is greater 
than its recoverable amount. An impairment loss recognized 
for a cash-generating unit is first allocated to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-gener-
ating unit, and then, to the other assets of the unit pro rata on 
the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. 
	 Impairment losses recognized for goodwill are not subse-
quently reversed. Impairment losses recognized for other 
assets are assessed at each reporting date whether or not 
there is any indication that they may no longer exist or may 
have decreased. If there is a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount of an asset, an entity 
reviews the recoverable amount of the asset and reverses an 
impairment loss for the asset. An impairment loss is reversed 
to the extent of carrying amount that would have been deter-
mined, net of any amortization or depreciation, had no impair-
ment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years.

(11) Post-employment benefit plans
The Company and certain subsidiaries established post-em-
ployment benefit plans for their employees: defined benefit 
and defined contribution plans. The present value of defined 
benefit obligations, related current service cost, and, where 
applicable, past service cost are determined using the pro-
jected unit credit method. The discount rate is determined by 
reference to market yields at each reporting date of high-qual-
ity corporate bonds corresponding to a discount period that is 
defined based on the period to the date of expected future 

benefit payment for each year. Net defined benefit liability 
(asset) is determined as the present value of defined benefit 
obligation less the fair value of plan assets (if any). Remea-
surements of the net defined benefit liability (asset) are recog-
nized collectively in other comprehensive income for the 
period in which they are incurred. The past service cost is 
accounted for as profit or loss for the period in which it is 
incurred. 
	 Expenses related to defined contribution benefits are 
recognized when related services are rendered.

(12) Provisions
A provision is recognized only when the Group has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. A 
provision is measured at the present value of estimated future 
cash outflows discounted using a pre-tax rate (or rates) that 
reflect(s) current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting 
is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of 
time is recognized as finance costs.

(13) Revenue
The Group is engaged in the sale of soft drinks and foods. As 
customers usually obtain control of the goods and the 
Group’s performance obligation is satisfied at the time when 
the goods are delivered, the Group recognizes revenue at the 
amount of consideration promised under the contracts with 
customer after deduction of trade discounts, rebates, taxes 
collected on behalf of third parties such as consumption taxes 
or value added tax, sales incentives, and returned goods. 
Interest income and expense is recognized by using the 
effective interest method. Please refer to “(18) Changes in 
accounting policies.”

(14) Government grant
The Group measures and recognizes grant revenue at its fair 
value when there is reasonable assurance that an entity will 
comply with the conditions attached to them and will receive 
the grants. The grants received to compensate costs incurred 
are recognized as revenue in the period in which such costs 
are incurred. The grants related to the acquisition of an asset 
are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset.

(15) Corporate income tax
Corporate income tax is comprised of current and deferred 
tax. Current and deferred taxes over recognized through profit 
and loss, except for those that arise from a business combi-
nation or are recognized in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity.
	 Current tax is measured at the amount expected to be 
paid to (collected from) the taxation authorities. The amount 

of current tax is determined based on the tax rates and tax 
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the reporting period in each tax jurisdiction where the 
Group owns the business activities and earns taxable profit 
(or loss). Deferred tax is recognized for the temporary differ-
ences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and their value for tax purposes 
as at the reporting date, as well as the carryforward of unused 
tax losses and unused tax credits.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized for the 
following temporary differences:
• �Temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of 

goodwill;
• �Temporary differences arising on initial recognition of an 

asset or liability arising in a transaction other than business 
combinations and affecting neither accounting profit nor 
taxable profit;

• �Deductible temporary differences associated with invest-
ments in subsidiaries, associates, and interests in joint 
arrangement, to the extent it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

• �Taxable temporary differences associated with investments 
in subsidiaries, associates, and interests in joint arrange-
ment, to the extent it is probable that the Group is able to 
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference 
and the temporary difference will not reverse in the foresee-
able future.

A deferred tax liability is principally recognized for all taxable 
temporary differences, and a deferred tax asset is recognized 
for all deductible temporary differences to the extent it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilized.
	 The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets are reviewed 
in each period and are adjusted to the extent it is probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred tax assets to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax 
assets are also reviewed in each period and recognized to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will 
allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered.
	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates and tax laws that are expected to be applied in the 
period when the asset is realized or liability is settled, based 
on statutory tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted when the 
entity has a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
assets and liabilities, and the deferred tax balances relate to 
the same taxation authority. 
	 An asset or liability is recognized for uncertain tax posi-
tions at the estimated amount expected to arise from the 
uncertain tax position if it is probable that the position will 
result in a payment (or redemption) of taxes.
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(16) Earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated by the profit or loss attribut-
able to ordinary shareholders of the Company divided by the 
weighted-average number of ordinary shares issued.

(17) Assets held for sale
The Group classifies an asset or asset group that will be 
recovered principally through a sales transaction rather than 
through continuing use as assets held for sale only when it is 
highly probable that the sale will occur within one year, the 
asset or asset group is available for immediate sale in its 
present condition, and the appropriate level of management 
of the Group is committed to a plan to sell the asset or asset 
group. The assets held for sale are not depreciated or amor-
tized and are measured at the lower of its carrying amount 
and the fair value less costs to sell. 

(18) Changes in accounting policies
The Group has adopted IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers” (amended in April 2016) (hereinafter, “IFRS 
15”), from the year ended December 31, 2018. The Group 
recognizes revenue, except for interest and dividend revenue 
under IFRS 9, by considering the following five steps:
Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
Step 3: Determine the transaction price
Step 4: �Allocate the transaction price to the performance 

obligations in the contract
Step 5: �Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a 

performance obligation

The Group is engaged in sale of soft drinks and foods. As 
customers usually obtain control of the goods and the 
Group’s performance obligation is satisfied at the time when 
the goods are delivered, the above criteria to recognize 
revenue are met at this point in time. Previously, it was re-
quired to recognize revenue when the Group transferred to 
the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the 
goods, retained neither continuing involvement nor effective 
control over the goods, it was probable the future economic 
benefits associated with the transaction would flow to the 
Group, and the economic benefits and the costs incurred or 
to be incurred in respect of the transaction could be mea-
sured reliably. The Group previously recognized revenue at the 
time of delivery of goods, and consequently, the timing of 
revenue recognition was not changed upon the application of 
IFRS 15.
	 In addition, revenue is measured at the amount after 
deduction of trade discounts, rebates, taxes collected on 
behalf of third parties such as consumption taxes or value 
added tax, sales incentives, and returned goods from consid-
eration promised under the contracts with customers, and 
there was no change from the previous measurement method.
	 In the application of IFRS 15, the Group adopted the 
method where the cumulative effect of applying this standard 
is recognized at the date of initial application, which is allowed 
as the transition approach, and did not make retrospective 
adjustments for each reporting period in the past. However, 
as stated above, there was no change to recognition and 
measurement of revenue and no impact on the consolidated 
financial statements.

4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

During the process of preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs, management is required 
to make judgements, estimates, and assumptions. These 
judgements, estimates, and assumptions may affect application 
of the Group’s accounting policies and amount of assets, 
liabilities, revenue, and expenses. However, actual results could 
differ from these estimates. The estimates and the underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. The effects of 
a change in accounting estimates are recognized prospectively 
from the period in which the estimate is revised. 
	 The following are the judgements and estimates that 
management has made that have significant effects on the 
amounts in the consolidated financial statements:
• �Estimates used for impairment of property, plant and equip-

ment, intangibles, and goodwill (Notes 3. Significant ac-
counting policies (10), 13. Property, plant and equipment, 
and 14. Goodwill and intangible assets)

• �Measurement of post-employment obligations (Notes 3. 
Significant accounting policies (11) and 21. Post-employ-
ment benefit plants)

• �Judgements and estimates made for the recognition and 
measurement of provisions (Notes 3. Significant accounting 
policies (12) and 22. Provisions)

• �Judgements made for assessing the recoverability of de-
ferred tax assets (Notes 3. Significant accounting policies 
(15) and 16. Income tax expense)

• �Judgements made in determining whether the Group 
controls another entity (Notes 3. Significant accounting 
policies (1) and 15. Investments accounted for using the 
equity method)

• �Fair value of financial instruments (Notes 3. Significant 
accounting policies (4) and 33. Financial instruments (4))

• �Estimates used for residual value and useful life of property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets (Notes 3. Signifi-
cant accounting policies (7)(8), 13. Property, plant and 
equipment, and 14. Goodwill and intangible assets) 

• �Measurement of the fair value of the assets acquired and lia-
bilities assumed in a business combination (Note 3. Signifi-
cant accounting policies (2)).

5. New accounting standards and interpretations not yet adopted

IFRS 16, “Leases” (hereinafter, “IFRS 16”), has been published 
as at the approval date of the consolidated financial state-
ments. The Group did not early adopt IFRS 16 but decided to 
adopt it from the mandatory adoption date of January 1, 
2019. IFRS 16 eliminates the classification of leases as either 
operating leases or finance leases currently required under 
IAS 17, “Leases,” and introduces a single lessee accounting 
model where the lessee is required to recognize assets and 
liabilities for all material leases. Requirements for measure-
ment and disclosure are significantly refined by this new 
standard. All material leases will be recognized on the consoli-
dated statement of financial position as right of use assets 
and depreciated on a straight-line basis. The lease liability will 
be measured at a discounted value and related interest will be 
charged to finance charges in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. Therefore, the charge to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss for the operating lease payment will 
be replaced with depreciation on the right of use asset and 
the interest charge inherent in the lease. The Group has 
adopted IFRS 16 by applying the method, allowed as the 
transition approach, to recognize the cumulative effect of this 
new standard on the date of initial application and make no 
retrospective adjustment for each previous reporting period. 
The Group has decided to reduce the complexity of imple-

mentation to take advantage of a number of practical expedi-
ents on transition, at each region or business level as follows:
• �not to reassess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease 

at the date of initial application
• �to apply a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with 

reasonably similar characteristics
• �to exclude initial direct costs from the measurement of the 

right-of-use asset arising from leases previously classified as 
operating leases at the date of initial application

• �to measure the right of use asset arising from leases previ-
ously classified as operating leases at the same value as the 
lease liability

• �to apply the short-term and low value exemptions

The impact of IFRS 16 on the Group is still under assessment 
as at the timing of preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements; however, it is anticipated that total assets and 
total liabilities are to increase by approximately 3% and 5%, 
respectively, due to the application of the standard. The 
impact on consolidated statement of profit and loss is not 
anticipated to be material. This impact could be updated 
during the financial statement closing process for the year 
ending December 31, 2019.

6. Segment information

The reportable segments are components of the Group for 
which separate financial information is available and regularly 
reviewed by the Board of Directors to make decisions about 
the allocation of resources and to assess segment perfor-
mance.
	 The Group primarily manufactures and distributes soft 
drinks, such as mineral water, coffee, tea, carbonated drinks, 
sports drinks, and food for specified health uses. The Compa-
ny, together with its manufacturing and sales subsidiaries, 
operates in the domestic market, and its regional subsidiaries 
operate in overseas markets. Therefore, the Group comprises 
five reportable segments: “Japan business,” “Europe busi-
ness,” “Asia business,” “Oceania business,” and “Americas 
business.” The accounting policies of the reportable segments 

are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in 
“Note 3. Significant accounting policies.” The intersegment 
transactions are considered on an arm’s length basis. 
	 The Group operates in a single business, the manufactur-
ing and distribution of soft drinks and foods; therefore, finan-
cial information by product and service is not prepared.
	 Following the organizational changes, the fresh coffee 
business, which was previously included in “Asia business,” 
was reclassified from “Asia business” into “Oceania business” 
starting from the year ended December 31, 2018. According-
ly, the same reclassification has been made for the accompa-
nying segment information for the year ended December 31, 
2017. 
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Profit or loss for each reportable segment of the Group was as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2017

Millions of yen

Reportable segment
Segment 

total Reconciliations ConsolidatedJapan Europe Asia Oceania Americas

Revenue:

External customers 689,192 238,943 163,528 56,303 86,040 1,234,008 ̶ 1,234,008 

Intersegment 3 1,367 563 6 ̶ 1,940 (1,940) ̶
Total revenue 689,195 240,311 164,091 56,309 86,040 1,235,948 (1,940) 1,234,008 

Segment profit 57,309 34,580 22,181 6,012 9,298 129,382 (11,426) 117,955 

(Depreciation and 
   amortization expense)

36,644 9,618 8,737 2,315 3,652 60,968 2,966 63,934 

Year ended December 31, 2018

Millions of yen

Reportable segment
Segment 

total Reconciliations ConsolidatedJapan Europe Asia Oceania Americas

Revenue:

External customers 708,725 245,175 201,143 54,185 85,025 1,294,256 ̶ 1,294,256 

Intersegment 5 1,134 1,052 9 ̶ 2,201 (2,201) ̶
Total revenue 708,730 246,310 202,196 54,195 85,025 1,296,458 (2,201) 1,294,256 

Segment profit 52,681 24,979 33,318 6,371 8,488 125,839 (12,281) 113,557 

(Depreciation and 
   amortization expense)

34,970 10,401 9,899 1,899 3,111 60,282 3,037 63,319 

“Reconciliations” to segment profit represent overhead costs incurred by the Company to manage the Group’s operations and 
are not allocated to each reportable segment. Segment profit agrees with operating income presented in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

Major countries included in each reportable segment are as follows:
Japan business	 Japan
Europe business	 France, United Kingdom, Spain, and others
Asia business	 Vietnam, Thailand, Indonesia, and others
Oceania business	 New Zealand, Australia, and others
Americas business	 United States of America

Revenue from external customers by location was as follows:
Millions of yen

Japan Europe Asia Oceania Americas Total

Year ended December 31, 2017 689,192 239,349 143,799 75,627 86,040 1,234,008

Year ended December 31, 2018 708,725 245,276 197,966 57,262 85,025 1,294,256

Revenue is allocated into countries or areas based on the customer’s domicile for the analysis above.

Non-current assets by location was as follows:
Millions of yen

Japan Europe Asia Oceania Americas Total

As at December 31, 2017 339,933 532,115 68,877 40,208 59,920 1,041,056

As at December 31, 2018 332,570 492,463 121,406 36,999 61,188 1,044,629

Non-current assets (property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, and goodwill) are allocated based on their domiciles for the 
above analysis.
	 There were no sales to a single external customer that represented 10% or more of the Group’s revenue.

7. �Acquisition and sale of businesses and purchase of non-controlling interests 
(Acquisition of beverage business in Thailand)

As at March 5, 2018, the Group acquired 51% of the shares 
of International Refreshment (Thailand) Co., Ltd., a soft drink 
operation in Thailand, from Pepsi-Cola (Thai) Trading Co., 
Ltd., a subsidiary of PepsiCo Inc., aiming to expand the 
beverage business in Thailand. The company’s name after the 
acquisition is Suntory PepsiCo Beverage (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
	 The consideration paid in cash for the acquisition was 
¥33,551 million (US $315 million).

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed as at the day of the 
business combination were as follows:

Millions of yen

Fair value

Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 6,832

Trade and other receivables 5,265

Other current assets 5,275

Total current assets 17,373

Property, plant and equipment 33,049

Intangible assets 19,537

Other non-current assets 359

Total non-current assets 52,945

Total assets 70,319

Liabilities:

Trade and other payables 10,512

Other current liabilities 347

Total current liabilities 10,859

Total non-current liabilities 4,600

Total liabilities 15,459

Net assets 54,859

Intangible assets were recognized by assessing the fair value 
of “Exclusive Bottling Appointment,” with PepsiCo, Inc. and 
others. Goodwill of ¥5,573 million was recorded in association 
with this transaction. The goodwill reflects the expected 
synergies to be created through future business expansion. 

Non-controlling interests of ¥26,881 million were recorded, 
with the amount measured as the ownership ratio of non-con-
trolling shareholders of the fair value of identifiable net assets 
of the acquired business.

Cash flow analysis of the share acquisition
Millions of yen

Amount

Consideration paid in cash and cash equivalents 33,551

Cash and cash equivalents held 
   by the acquired company

(6,832)

Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries 26,719

The transaction was translated into Japanese yen at the 
exchange rate on the transaction date.
	 The acquisition-related costs for this business combina-
tion were ¥784 million, which were recorded in “Other ex-
penses.” Acquisition-related costs of ¥675 million and ¥108 
million were recorded for the years ended December 31, 2017 
and 2018, respectively.
	 Revenue and operating profit of the acquired company 
after the date of acquisition that was recognized in the con-
solidated statement of profit or loss for the reporting period 
were ¥44,859 million and ¥2,300 million, respectively.
	 Had this business consolidation taken effect from the 
beginning of the year, the Group’s revenues and operating 
profit for the year ended December 31, 2018 would have 
been ¥1,306,233 million and ¥114,649 million, respectively. 
Since these amounts do not represent actual results of 
operation, the amounts are out of scope of audit by the 
independent auditor.

(Disposal of the food and instant coffee business)
The Group completed the transfer of all of the shares of its 
three subsidiaries operating food and instant coffee business-
es to The Kraft Heinz Company as at March 9, 2018. As a 
result, the balances of assets held for sale and liabilities 
directly associated with assets held for sale as at December 
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9. Other financial assets

Other financial assets as at December 31, 2017 and 2018 were as follows:
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Financial assets at amortized cost:

Guarantee deposits 5,809 5,716 

Other 1,203 624 

Loss allowance (475) (50)

Financial assets designated as hedging instruments:

Derivative assets 15,828 6,730 

Financial assets measured at FVTPL:

Derivative assets ̶ 204 

Other 1,155 1,121 

Financial assets measured at FVTOCI:

Listed equity investments 5,566 4,925 

Unlisted equity investments 3,158 2,657 

Other 8 8 

Total 32,253 21,939 

Current assets 11,793 984 

Non-current assets 20,460 20,955 

Total 32,253 21,939 

Equity investments are primarily listed and unlisted equity investments in Japan, held for the purpose of maintaining or strength-
ening business relations with customers. Such investments are designated as financial assets measured at fair value through 
other comprehensive income.

Certain items designated as financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income have been disposed of 
during the year as part of the Group’s capital strategy. Fair value and cumulative gain (or loss) recognized in other comprehensive 
income in other components of equity at the disposal were as follows:

Millions of yen

2017 2018

Fair value 186 254

Cumulative gains 118 196

The cumulative gains recognized in other comprehensive income in other components of equity are reclassified to retained 
earnings when the associated financial asset is sold, or a significant deterioration in fair value is recognized. The cumulative gains 
(net of tax) reclassified to retained earnings during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018 were ¥64 million and ¥131 
million, respectively.

31, 2017 were decreased.
	 The consideration received in cash for the transfer date 
was ¥26,285 million (AUD $313 million), and a gain on trans-
fer of ¥12,038 million was recorded in “Other income.” 

Assets and liabilities over which control was lost, as well as 
the reconciliation of considerations received and proceeds 
from sales of shares were as follows:

Millions of yen

Amount

Assets:

Current assets 9,044

Non-current assets 9,345

Liabilities:

Current liabilities 4,275

Non-current liabilities 29

Cash flow analysis of the sales of shares
Millions of yen

Amount

Consideration received in cash 26,285 

Cash and cash equivalents held in the 
   subsidiary as at the transaction date

(2,068)

Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries 24,216 

The transaction was translated into Japanese yen at the 
exchange rate on the transaction date.

8. Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables were as follows:
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Trade receivables 159,141 166,159 

Other receivables 15,535 16,634 

Other 2,861 3,194 

Loss allowance (885) (1,087)

Total 176,653 184,900 

Trade receivables are contracted amounts due from customers for goods sold in the ordinary course of business.

91          SUNTORY BEVERAGE & FOOD LIMITED SUNTORY BEVERAGE & FOOD LIMITED          90

Basic Information



11. Other assets

Other assets were as follows:
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Other current assets:

Prepaid expenses 11,655 12,975

Consumption tax receivables 6,345 7,336

Corporate tax receivables 5,805 3,315

Other 1,681 1,522

Total 25,487 25,149

Other non-current assets:

Long-term prepaid expenses 10,236 10,071

Other 5,426 4,887

Total 15,663 14,959

12. Assets held for sale

Assets held for sale and liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale were as follows:
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Assets held for sale:

Cash and cash equivalents 3,439 ̶
Trade and other receivables 5,237 ̶
Inventories 2,855 ̶
Property, plant and equipment 7,120 27

Goodwill 2,833 ̶
Other 594 ̶

Total 22,081 27

Liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale:

Bonds and borrowings 963 ̶
Trade and other payables 4,922 ̶
Other 329 ̶

Total 6,215 ̶

Assets held for sale and liabilities directly associated with assets held for sale as at December 31, 2017 were recognized in the 
Asia business in relation to the share transfer agreement which concluded on October 19, 2017. The share transfer was com-
pleted on March 9, 2018.

10. Inventories

The breakdown of inventories were as follows:
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Merchandise and finished goods 50,555 50,448

Work in progress 4,359 4,540

Raw materials 22,731 26,929

Consumables 3,370 3,848

Total 81,015 85,766

Inventories recognized as an expense and write-down of inventories to its’ net realizable value during the year were as follows:
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Inventories recognized as an expense 639,820 694,283

Write-down of inventories to its’ net realizable value 1,347 1,549
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Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Millions of yen

Land, buildings 
and structures

Machinery and 
vehicles

Tools, fixtures 
and equipment

Assets under 
construction Other Total

Balance at January 1, 2017 (58,625) (203,867) (128,030) ̶ (9,681) (400,204)

Balance at December 31, 2017 (61,260) (210,035) (133,126) ̶ (10,903) (415,325)

Balance at December 31, 2018 (67,035) (228,425) (136,077) ̶ (8,823) (440,362)

Leased assets
Leased assets included in property, plant and equipment were as follows:

Millions of yen

Land, buildings 
and structures

Machinery and 
vehicles

Tools, fixtures 
and equipment Total

Balance at January 1, 2017 1,482 9,431 11,066 21,980

Balance at December 31, 2017 2,066 7,309 6,869 16,245

Balance at December 31, 2018 2,251 5,647 4,036 11,936

Impairment
A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the 
cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. Impairment losses are included in other expenses in the consolidated state-
ment of profit and loss. The breakdown of impairment losses by segment was as follows:

Millions of yen

2017 2018

Japan (8) (60)

Europe ̶ (201)

Asia (189) (161)

Total (198) (423)

Impairment losses were recognized for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018 by decreasing the carrying amount of 
assets to their recoverable amounts as a result of the decision to dispose of certain machinery and vehicles. The recoverable 
amount is primarily measured as the fair value less costs of disposal.

13. Property, plant and equipment

The movement of carrying amount, cost, and accumulated depreciation and impairment losses for property, plant and equipment 
was as follows:

Carrying amount
Millions of yen

Land, buildings 
and structures

Machinery and 
vehicles

Tools, fixtures 
and equipment

Assets under 
construction Other Total

Balance at January 1, 2017 108,299 142,059 88,818 15,124 8,039 362,342 

Additions 2,564 6,784 17,404 29,143 1,709 57,605 

Depreciation (5,165) (26,013) (23,070) ̶ (1,993) (56,243)

Impairment losses (16) (181) ̶ ̶ 0 (198)

Reversal of impairment losses ̶ 65 ̶ ̶ ̶ 65 

Sales or disposals (45) (1,591) (2,711) ̶ (88) (4,437)

Reclassified as assets held for sale (2,302) (4,413) (132) ̶ ̶ (6,848)

Reclassifications 6,809 24,950 2,475 (34,786) 133 (416)

Exchange differences 883 1,261 62 392 210 2,809 

Other 452 (337) (353) (286) 63 (462)

Balance at December 31, 2017 111,478 142,581 82,494 9,587 8,073 354,216 

Additions 2,619 8,639 19,994 25,093 1,541 57,887 

Acquisitions through business combinations 13,594 15,016 113 454 3,870 33,049 

Depreciation (5,505) (25,197) (22,170) ̶ (2,823) (55,696)

Impairment losses (62) (212) (1) (0) (146) (423)

Reversal of impairment losses 156 6 ̶ ̶ 1 164 

Sales or disposals (1,186) (1,232) (2,863) (25) (97) (5,404)

Reclassified as assets held for sale ̶ (27) (0) ̶ ̶ (27)

Reclassifications 3,080 13,389 1,558 (19,052) 1,198 174 

Exchange differences (2,228) (4,779) (314) (610) (366) (8,299)

Other (168) 97 (42) (191) 46 (258)

Balance at December 31, 2018 121,778 148,282 78,769 15,255 11,296 375,382 

Depreciation expense of property, plant and equipment is included in cost of sales and selling, general and administrative ex-
penses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Government grants that are deducted directly from the carrying value of 
property, plant and equipment as at December 31, 2017 and 2018 were ¥1,702 million and ¥2,188 million, respectively. These 
grants are primarily received in connection with the acquisition of production facilities (buildings and machinery) in Japan.

Cost
Millions of yen

Land, buildings 
and structures

Machinery and 
vehicles

Tools, fixtures 
and equipment

Assets under 
construction Other Total

Balance at January 1, 2017 166,925 345,926 216,849 15,124 17,721 762,546

Balance at December 31, 2017 172,739 352,617 215,621 9,587 18,976 769,542

Balance at December 31, 2018 188,814 376,707 214,846 15,255 20,120 815,744
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14. Goodwill and intangible assets

The movement of carrying amount, cost, and accumulated amortization and impairment losses for goodwill and intangible assets 
were as follows:

Carrying amount
Millions of yen

Intangible assets

Goodwill Trademarks Franchises Software Other Total

Balance at January 1, 2017 245,481 323,403 46,313 7,657 33,981 411,356 

Additions ̶ ̶ 1 771 2,744 3,516 

Acquisitions through business combinations 2,791 ̶ ̶ ̶ ̶ ̶
Amortization ̶ (2,885) ̶ (2,892) (1,885) (7,663)

Impairment losses ̶ (1,096) ̶ (70) ̶ (1,167)

Reversal of impairment losses ̶ 1,110 ̶ ̶ ̶ 1,110 

Sales or disposals ̶ ̶ ̶ (104) (19) (124)

Reclassified as assets held for sale (2,725) ̶ ̶ ̶ ̶ ̶
Exchange differences 8,599 26,391 (1,401) 454 356 25,801 

Other (121) ̶ ̶ 1,584 (1,599) (15)

Balance at December 31, 2017 254,025 346,924 44,914 7,398 33,577 432,814 

Additions ̶ ̶ ̶ 386 1,432 1,818 

Acquisitions through business combinations 5,573 ̶ 19,537 ̶ ̶ 19,537 

Amortization ̶ (2,963) ̶ (2,853) (1,800) (7,618)

Impairment losses (962) (2,062) ̶ ̶ (891) (2,954)

Reversal of impairment losses ̶ ̶ ̶ ̶ ̶ ̶
Sales or disposals ̶ ̶ ̶ ̶ (100) (100)

Exchange differences (7,950) (22,886) (853) (370) (762) (24,873)

Other ̶ ̶ ̶ 2,543 (2,605) (62)

Balance at December 31, 2018 250,685 319,011 63,598 7,104 28,848 418,562 

Amortization costs are included in cost of sales and selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. There were no significant internally generated intangible assets recorded at each year end.

Cost
Millions of yen

Intangible assets

Goodwill Trademarks Franchises Software Other Total

Balance at January 1, 2017 371,424 366,412 46,313 21,187 39,435 473,349

Balance at December 31, 2017 388,700 397,408 44,914 24,215 39,287 505,825

Balance at December 31, 2018 379,069 371,871 63,598 24,438 36,748 496,655

Accumulated amortization and impairment losses
Millions of yen

Intangible assets

Goodwill Trademarks Franchises Software Other Total

Balance at January 1, 2017 (125,942) (43,009) ̶ (13,530) (5,454) (61,993)

Balance at December 31, 2017 (134,674) (50,484) ̶ (16,816) (5,709) (73,011)

Balance at December 31, 2018 (128,383) (52,860) ̶ (17,333) (7,899) (78,093)

The breakdown of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives was as follows: 

Goodwill
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Japan business 130,680 130,680

Orangina Schweppes Group 91,099 84,792

Other 32,245 35,212

Total 254,025 250,685

Goodwill for the Japan business mainly consists of that recognized through the acquisition of Japan Beverage Holdings Inc., 
carried out on July 31, 2015. Goodwill for Orangina Schweppes Group was recognized through the acquisition of Orangina 
Schweppes Holding B.V. on November 12, 2009. Goodwill attributable to business combinations is allocated to cash-generating 
units or cash-generating groups at the acquisition date. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Trademarks: Lucozade and Ribena 156,690 144,842

Schweppes 81,017 76,250

Orangina 22,773 21,433

Oasis 21,895 20,607

La Casera 11,175 9,555

Other 18,475 16,314

Franchises: North Carolina, U.S.A. 34,377 33,768

Thailand ̶ 19,710

Vietnam 10,537 10,119

Other 16 16

Total 356,960 352,617

Trademarks of Lucozade and Ribena are related to the acqui-
sition of the business of Lucozade Ribena Suntory Limited on 
December 31, 2013. Trademarks of Schweppes, Orangina, 
Oasis, and La Casera were acquired through the aforemen-
tioned acquisition of Orangina Schweppes Holding B.V. 
Franchises for some areas in the U.S., Thailand, and Vietnam 
are the assets recognized by evaluating Exclusive Bottling 
Appointments engaged in with PepsiCo, Inc. and others. 
These trademarks represent brands with long histories in at 
each region, and the businesses are expected to continue in 
the foreseeable future. Franchises have long contract terms 
and the associated businesses are expected to continue in 
the foreseeable future. Since these trademarks and franchises 
are expected to contribute to the Group as long as the 
business continues, these are deemed to have indefinite lives 
for accounting purposes and are not amortized.
	 Impairment tests of goodwill and intangible assets are 
performed for the preceding units. The value in use is calcu-
lated as the discounted future cash flows, which are estimat-
ed based on the business plan for one to three years and 

have been approved by management, and discount rates 
which are determined with reference to the pre-tax weight-
ed-average cost of capital (“WACC”) (3.9%–20.1% and 
3.9%–23.4% for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 
2018, respectively) of the cash-generating units or cash-gen-
erating groups.
	 The business plans are made to reflect past business 
experiences and external information for five years or less. 
The growth rate has been determined with reference to 
long-term average growth rates in the markets or countries to 
which the cash-generating units or cash-generating groups 
belong. Discount rates are determined with reference to the 
weighted-average cost of capital of cash-generating units or 
cash-generating groups. 
	 The Group recorded impairment losses for intangible 
assets of ¥1,167 million for the year ended December 31, 
2017, which is primarily for certain trademarks in the Europe 
business, such as “Trina.” The impairment losses were recog-
nized due to deterioration in profitability of those trademarks 
in the most updated business plan, compared to the initial 
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business plan. These expenses are included in other expens-
es in the consolidated statement of profit and loss. During the 
year ended December 31, 2017, the Group reversed impair-
ment losses previously recorded for intangible assets of 
¥1,110 million for some trademarks, such as “La Casera.” 
These losses were recognized in the previous period; howev-
er, these intangible assets were assessed as having a higher 
recoverable amount as a result of an annual impairment 
review carried out during the year ended December 31, 2017, 
based on the most updated business plan. The income from 
the reversal of these impairment losses are included in other 
income in the consolidated statement of profit and loss.
	 As a result of annual impairment tests performed during 
the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group recorded 
impairment losses for intangible assets of ¥2,954 million. This 
was primarily for certain trademarks in the Europe business, 
such as “La Casera” and “Trina.” The impairment losses were 
recognized as the excess amount of the carrying amounts of 
trademarks over their recoverable amounts based on the 
most updated business plan. Recoverable amounts were 
calculated to represent the value in use of these brands, 
applying discount rates of 3.9% and 6.8%, respectively. 

Discount rates used in the previous-year impairment tests of 
these brands were 3.9% and 6.9%, respectively.
	 The Group also recognized impairment losses for Goodwill 
of ¥962 million during the year ended December 31, 2018. 
This was primarily for certain areas in the African business, 
which is part of the Europe business. Due to stiff competition 
in those areas, part of Goodwill was assessed to be uncol-
lectible. Recoverable amounts were calculated to represent 
the value in use of the business, applying a discount rate of 
23.4%, which was 20.1% in the previous-year impairment 
test. These expenses are recorded in other expenses in the 
consolidated statement of profit and loss. 
	 The value in use of the remaining intangible assets record-
ed on the consolidated statement of financial position ex-
ceeds the carrying amount of all of the cash-generating units 
or cash-generating groups except for the goodwill and intan-
gible assets on which the impairment losses were recorded 
for the current year. The Group assessed that the value in use 
would exceed the carrying amount even though the discount 
rate and the growth rate may fluctuate at reasonably assum-
able levels.

15. Investments accounted for using the equity method

Total investments (as a result of the Group applying the equity method) for associates and joint ventures were as follows. There 
were no individually material associates and joint ventures.

Millions of yen

2017 2018

Carrying amount:

Associates 1,233 1,216

Joint ventures ̶ ̶
Total 1,233 1,216

Comprehensive income for the year determined using the equity method on investments for associates and joint ventures were as follows:

Millions of yen

2017 2018

Profit for the year:

Associates 276 137 

Joint ventures 170 ̶
Total 447 137 

Other comprehensive income:

Associates 47 (56)

Joint ventures 18 ̶
Total 66 (56)

Comprehensive income for the year:

Associates 324 81 

Joint ventures 189 ̶
Total 513 81 

16. Income tax expense

The balances and movement of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities by nature were as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2017
Millions of yen

As at 
January  
1, 2017

Recognized in 
profit or loss

Recognized in 
other compre-

hensive income Other

As at 
December  

31, 2017

Deferred tax assets:

Other payables 5,454 641 ̶ 10 6,106 

Unrealized gain 4,387 943 ̶ 55 5,386 

Post-employment benefit liabilities 3,306 752 (372) 181 3,867 

Other 10,312 (1,689) 428 131 9,182 

Total 23,460 648 55 377 24,542 

Deferred tax liabilities:

Intangible assets (43,835) (3,220) ̶ (3,314) (50,370)

Property, plant and equipment (12,041) 13 ̶ (151) (12,179)

Temporary differences associated with investments in 
associates

(12,086) 3,691 ̶ 390 (8,005)

Other (5,978) (317) (889) (101) (7,287)

Total (73,942) 166 (889) (3,177) (77,843)

“Other” in the table above primarily comprised foreign exchange movements.

Year ended December 31, 2018

Millions of yen

As at  
January 1,  

2018
Recognized in 

profit or loss

Recognized in 
other compre-

hensive income Other

As at  
December 31,  

2018

Deferred tax assets:

Other payables 6,106 (553) ̶ (39) 5,513 

Unrealized gain 5,386 (177) ̶ (35) 5,172 

Post-employment benefit liabilities 3,867 (128) 61 (2) 3,797 

Other 9,182 1,613 (210) 66 10,651 

Total 24,542 753 (149) (11) 25,135 

Deferred tax liabilities:

Intangible assets (50,370) 4,904 ̶ (1,457) (46,923)

Property, plant and equipment (12,179) 549 ̶ (457) (12,087)

Temporary differences associated with investments in 
associates

(8,005) (343) ̶ 139 (8,208)

Other (7,287) (148) 189 127 (7,119)

Total (77,843) 4,962 189 (1,647) (74,338)

“Other” in the table above primarily comprised foreign exchange movements.
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Deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses, and unused tax credits for which no deferred tax asset is recognized were 
as follows:

Millions of yen

2017 2018

Unused tax losses 20,491 25,933

Unused tax credits 2,195 2,796

Deductible temporary differences 49,845 48,671

Total 72,532 77,401

Expiration schedule of unused tax losses and unused tax credits for which no deferred tax asset is recognized was as follows:
Millions of yen

Unused tax losses 2017 2018

Expires within 1 year 516 401

Expires between 1 and 2 years 2,425 2,806

Expires between 2 and 3 years 4,291 3,807

Expires between 3 and 4 years 3,581 3,936

Expires after 4 years 9,676 14,981

Total 20,491 25,933

Millions of yen

Deferred tax credits 2017 2018

Expires within 1 year ̶ ̶
Expires between 1 and 2 years ̶ ̶
Expires between 2 and 3 years ̶ ̶
Expires between 3 and 4 years ̶ ̶
Expires after 4 years 2,195 2,796

Total 2,195 2,796

Taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities are not recognized as 
at December 31, 2017 and 2018 were ¥91,388 million and ¥91,925 million, respectively. Deferred tax liabilities were not recog-
nized since the Group is able to control the timing of reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not be reversed in the foreseeable future. 

Income tax expense was as follows:
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Current tax expense 29,083 28,695 

Deferred tax expense (815) (5,716)

Total 28,267 22,979 

The effective statutory tax rate and the average effective tax rate were reconciled as follows:
%

2017 2018

Effective statutory tax rate 30.84 30.84 

Tax rate change (3.76) (4.63)

Differences in overseas tax rates (2.40) (4.11)

Permanent differences, such as non-taxable dividend income (1.56) (3.38)

Other 1.58 1.83 

Average effective tax rate 24.70 20.55 

Income tax, inhabitant tax, and business tax are the main 
components of income tax expense imposed on the Group, 
and the effective statutory tax rate based on those taxes was 
30.84% for the year ended December 31, 2017 and 30.84% 
for the year ended December 31, 2018. Foreign subsidiaries 
are subject to income tax expense in the tax jurisdiction in 
which they are located.
	 Due to the enactment of new U.S. tax legislation in 
December 2017, the federal corporate income tax rate in the 
U.S. was reduced from 35% to 21% for the year ended 
December 31, 2017. According to this change in effective tax 

rate, the Group reversed certain deferred tax assets and 
liabilities, and credited deferred tax expense by ¥4,298 
million.
	 Due to the enactment of the Netherland tax amendment 
on December 28, 2018, the corporate income tax rate in the 
Netherlands is to be gradually decreased from 25% to 20.5% 
over the five years ending on 2021 for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2018. According to this change in effective tax rate, 
the Group reversed certain deferred tax assets and liabilities, 
and credited deferred tax expense by ¥5,173 million.

17. Bonds and borrowings

The breakdown of bonds and borrowings were as follows:
Millions of yen

2017 2018
Average 

interest rate (%) Maturity date

Short-term borrowings 21,819 23,126 0.61 ̶
Current portion of long-term borrowings 73,834 27,320 1.51 ̶
Current portion of bonds ̶ 24,989 0.26 ̶
Long-term borrowings 171,453 150,580 1.56 2020–2025

Bonds 39,921 44,855 0.26 2021–2024 

Total 307,029 270,874

Current liabilities 95,654 75,437

Non-current liabilities 211,375 195,436

Total 307,029 270,874

Bonds and borrowings are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortized cost. The average interest rate is calculated as 
the weighted-average interest rate as at the end of the reporting period. 

Summary of terms of bonds were as follows:
Millions of yen

Issuer Type Issue date 2017 2018
Interest 
rate (%) Collateral

Maturity 
date

Suntory 
Beverage &  
Food Limited

The 1st issue of 
   unsecured corporate bonds

June 26, 
2014

24,969 24,989 0.26 None
June 26, 

2019

The 2nd issue of 
   unsecured corporate bonds

June 26,  
2014

14,952 14,959 0.70 None
June 26, 

2024

The 3rd issue of 
   unsecured corporate bonds

July 26, 
2018

̶ 14,953 0.001 None
July 26, 

2021

The 4th issue of 
   unsecured corporate bonds

July 26,  
2018

̶ 14,942 0.07 None
July 26, 

2023

Total 39,921 69,845

There was no asset pledged as collateral for bonds and borrowings.
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18. Leases

(1) Finance leases
The Group leases vending machines, vehicles, and other assets as a lessor. Certain contracts have terms with renewal options. 
There are no significant variable lease payments, purchase options, escalation clauses, or any other restrictions associated with 
these lease contracts.

Minimum lease payments for finance leases and their present value were as follows:
Millions of yen

Total minimum lease payments
Total minimum lease payments, 

at present value

2017 2018 2017 2018

Within 1 year 7,978 5,444 7,765 5,260 

Between 1 and 5 years 8,251 6,102 8,099 6,051 

More than 5 years 688 977 686 832 

Total 16,918 12,524 16,550 12,144 

Future finance charge (367) (379)

The present value of lease liabilities 16,550 12,144 

(2) Non-cancellable operating leases
The Group leases buildings, vehicles, and other assets as a lessor. Certain contracts have terms with renewal options or escala-
tion clauses. There are no significant variable lease payments, purchase options, or any other restrictions associated with these 
lease contracts.

Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases were as follows:
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Within 1 year 6,767 6,289

Between 1 and 5 years 16,050 17,389

More than 5 years 4,722 6,413

Total 27,539 30,092

Minimum lease payments associated with operating leases recognized as expenses were as follows:
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Total minimum lease payments 7,699 7,140

19. Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables were as follows:
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Trade payables 118,832 135,005

Accrued expenses 148,123 145,690

Accrued employee benefits 22,565 23,088

Total 289,521 303,783

Accrued employee benefits are comprised of various employee-related accruals, such as salaries, bonuses, and paid vacation.

20. Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities as at December 31, 2017 and 2018 were as follows:
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost:

Lease obligations 16,550 12,144

Deposits received 34,743 35,262

Other 649 584

Financial liabilities designated as hedging instruments:

Derivative liabilities 5,918 2,864

Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL:

Derivative liabilities 122 31

Total 57,984 50,887

Current liabilities 32,678 30,736

Non-current liabilities 25,306 20,150

Total 57,984 50,887

21. Post-employment benefit plans

(1) Defined benefit plans
The Company and some of its subsidiaries established post-em-
ployment benefit plans, such as a defined benefit corporate 
pension plan and a lump-sum employment benefit plan. Certain 
subsidiaries also provide defined contribution pension plans. 
These plans are exposed to a variety of risks, such as general 
investment risk, interest rate risk, and inflation risk. 

The defined benefit plans are administered by a separate fund 
that is legally isolated from the Group. The board of the 
pension fund and pension property management trust institu-
tions are obliged by law to act in the interest of the members 
in the scheme and to manage the plan assets in accordance 
with designated management policies. 

The liability recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position and with defined benefit obligation and plan assets was 
reconciled as follows:

Millions of yen

2017 2018

Present value of funded defined benefit obligations 33,294 33,960

Fair value of plan assets (32,764) (32,670)

Subtotal 529 1,290

Present value of unfunded defined benefit obligation 10,114 10,888

Net defined benefit liability 10,644 12,179

Balance in consolidated statement of financial position:

Post-employment benefit liabilities 11,888 13,258

Post-employment benefit assets (1,244) (1,078)

Net of liabilities and assets 10,644 12,179
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Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018 were as 
follows:

Millions of yen

2017 2018

Balance at beginning of the year 41,629 43,408

Current service cost 3,065 3,241

Interest expense 325 358

Remeasurements:

Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in demographic assumptions (78) (498)

Actuarial gains and losses arising from changes in financial assumptions (296) 79

Past service cost ̶ (57)

Benefits paid (1,212) (1,318)

Other (24) (364)

Balance at end of the year 43,408 44,849

The weighted-average durations of the defined benefit obligation as at December 31, 2017 and 2018 were 15.5 years and 15.3 
years, respectively. 

Changes in the fair value of plan assets during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018 were as follows:
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Balance at beginning of the year 31,124 32,764

Interest income 231 248

Remeasurements:

Return on plan assets 751 (682)

Employer contributions 1,487 1,489

Benefits paid (937) (1,007)

Other 107 (142)

Balance at end of the year 32,764 32,670

The contribution by the Group to defined benefit plans in the subsequent annual reporting period is expected to be ¥1,950 
million.

Fair values of plan assets were as follows:
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Quoted  
market price

Unquoted 
market price Total

Quoted  
market price

Unquoted 
market price Total

Cash and cash equivalents 871 ̶ 871 579 ̶ 579

Equity instruments ̶ 6,353 6,353 ̶ 5,074 5,074

Domestic ̶ 2,419 2,419 ̶ 1,935 1,935

Overseas ̶ 3,934 3,934 ̶ 3,138 3,138

Debt instruments ̶ 12,021 12,021 ̶ 12,689 12,689

Domestic ̶ 5,358 5,358 ̶ 4,721 4,721

Overseas ̶ 6,663 6,663 ̶ 7,967 7,967

Life insurance—General accounts ̶ 5,306 5,306 ̶ 5,442 5,442

Other ̶ 8,211 8,211 ̶ 8,885 8,885

Total 871 31,892 32,764 579 32,090 32,670

Significant actuarial assumptions were as follows:
%

2017 2018

Discount rate 0.5–0.9 0.5–0.8

The sensitivity analysis below illustrates the impact on defined benefit obligations when key actuarial assumptions changes. This 
analysis holds all other assumptions constant; however, in practice, changes in some other assumptions may affect this analysis.

Change in assumption
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Discount rate: Increase by 0.5% (2,480) (3,149)

Decrease by 0.5% 2,732 2,857

Defined benefit costs were as follows:
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Current service cost 3,065 3,241

Interest expense 325 358

Interest income (231) (248)

Past service cost ̶ (57)

Total 3,159 3,293

The Group’s contribution to the plans for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018 were ¥12,916 million and ¥11,596 
million, respectively, and those are not included in defined benefit costs analyzed above. 

(2) Employee benefit expenses
Employee benefit expenses for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018 were ¥167,523 million and ¥170,619 million, 
respectively. Employee benefit expenses are primarily composed of salaries, bonuses, legal welfare costs, welfare expense, and 
post-employment costs. They are included in cost of sales and selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

Plan assets invested in joint investment trusts in trust banks 
are deemed plan assets that do not have a quoted market 
price in an active market. Life insurance general accounts 
represent the pension assets managed by the general ac-
counts of life insurance companies, which usually guarantee 
principal amounts and interest.
	 The Group’s plan asset management policy aims to 
maintain sustainable earnings over the medium to long term in 
order to secure payment for future defined benefit liabilities, 
as prescribed by corporate rules. Assets are managed so as 

to maintain a predetermined return rate and asset composi-
tion, accepting a certain level of tolerable risk which is re-
viewed every year. Asset compositions are determined by 
category of investment assets. Investments in assets which 
have a higher degree of correlation with fluctuations in the 
value of the defined benefit obligation are considered when 
reviewing the asset compositions. The policy allows adjust-
ment of the weight of risk assets by following corporate rules 
as a temporary solution when unexpected situations occur in 
the market environment.
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22. Provisions

Changes of provisions were as follows: 
Millions of yen

Asset retirement 
obligations

Provision for 
restructuring Other Total

Balance at January 1, 2017 1,805 2,747 549 5,101 

Additional provisions recognized 30 1,459 249 1,739 

Interest expense 46 ̶ ̶ 46 

Utilized during the period ̶ (1,912) (144) (2,057)

Reversed during the period (17) (531) (197) (746)

Other 8 153 53 215 

Balance at December 31, 2017 1,872 1,916 510 4,299 

Additional provisions recognized 56 733 1,218 2,008 

Interest expense 23 ̶ ̶ 23 

Utilized during the period ̶ (955) (17) (972)

Reversed during the period (50) (257) (73) (381)

Reclassifications ̶ 427 (427) ̶
Other (45) (110) (43) (199)

Balance at December 31, 2018 1,855 1,754 1,167 4,777 

Asset retirement obligations are provided for the obligation to restore a site to its original condition. Asset retirement obligations 
are measured as the estimated cost to be incurred in the future period based on historical transactions. These costs are general-
ly expected to be disbursed after more than one year; however, such disbursement affected by the execution of the Group’s 
business plan in the future. 
	 The restructuring provision primarily relates to business integration and rationalization measures in overseas businesses. 
Disbursement of such expense will be affected by the execution of the Group’s business plan in the future as well.

Provisions are included in the consolidated statement of financial position in the following accounts.
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Current liabilities 1,385 2,074

Non-current liabilities 2,913 2,702

Total 4,299 4,777

23. Equity

Share premium is the remaining of the proceeds from issu-
ance of equity instruments less the amount recognized as 
share capital. The Companies Act of Japan requires the 
Company to recognize one-half or more of the proceeds from 
issuance of equity instruments, and the remaining amount as 
share premium. Equity transactions designated by IFRS 10, 
“Consolidated Financial Statements,” as to charge to equity 
are recorded in share premium as well.
	 Retained earnings are the accumulated amount of profit 
attributable to owners of the Company up to the reporting 

period less dividends paid. The Group also reclassifies the 
cumulative gains or losses associated with equity financial 
instruments designated as measured at FVTOCI to retained 
earnings from other comprehensive income when equity 
instruments are derecognized or when there is a significant 
decline in fair value.
	 The number of shares authorized and shares issued were 
as follows. The Company only issues ordinary shares, and the 
issued shares are fully paid in.

Shares

Shares 
authorized

Shares 
issued

Balance at January 1, 2017 480,000,000 309,000,000

Increase (decrease) ̶ ̶
Balance at December 31, 2017 480,000,000 309,000,000

Increase (decrease) ̶ ̶
Balance at December 31, 2018 480,000,000 309,000,000

Other components of equity were as follows:
Millions of yen

Other components of equity

Translation 
adjustments of 

foreign 
operations

Changes in the 
fair value of 

cash flow 
hedges

Unrealized gain 
on available-for-

sale securities

Changes in the 
fair value of 

financial assets 

Remeasurement 
of defined 

benefit 
obligation Total

Balance at December 31, 2016 (48,358) 130 2,020 ̶ (5,299) (51,507)

Cumulative effect of adoption of 
   new accounting standards

̶ (1,378) (2,020) 2,682 ̶ (716)

Balance at January 1, 2017 (48,358) (1,248) ̶ 2,682 (5,299) (52,224)

Other comprehensive income 26,105 512 ̶ 383 661 27,663 

Transferred to retained earnings ̶ ̶ ̶ (64) ̶ (64)

Balance at December 31, 2017 (22,252) (735) ̶ 3,002 (4,638) (24,625)

Other comprehensive income (31,783) 808 ̶ (612) (205) (31,791)

Transferred to retained earnings ̶ ̶ ̶ (131) ̶ (131)

Balance at December 31, 2018 (54,036) 72 ̶ 2,258 (4,843) (56,548)

107          SUNTORY BEVERAGE & FOOD LIMITED SUNTORY BEVERAGE & FOOD LIMITED          106

Basic Information



24. Dividends

Dividends paid were as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2017
Millions of yen Yen

Resolution Total dividends
Dividends 
per share Record date Effective date

Annual general meeting of 
   shareholders held on March 30, 2017

12,051 39.00 December 31, 2016 March 31, 2017

Board of Directors meeting held on August 7, 2017 11,433 37.00 June 30, 2017 September 4, 2017

Year ended December 31, 2018

Millions of yen Yen

Resolution Total dividends
Dividends 
per share Record date Effective date

Annual general meeting of 
   shareholders held on March 29, 2018

11,742 38.00 December 31, 2017 March 30, 2018

Board of Directors meeting held on August 6, 2018 12,051 39.00 June 30, 2018 September 3, 2018

Dividends that will be effective in the year following that of the record date were as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2017

Millions of yen Yen

Resolution Total dividends
Dividends 
per share Record date Effective date

Annual general meeting of 
   shareholders held on March 29, 2018

11,742 38.00 December 31, 2017 March 30, 2018

Year ended December 31, 2018

Millions of yen Yen

Resolution Total dividends
Dividends 
per share Record date Effective date

Annual general meeting of 
   shareholders held on March 28, 2019

12,051 39.00 December 31, 2018 March 29, 2019

25. Revenue

The Group primarily manufactures and distributes soft drinks 
and foods. The Group’s business in Japan is operated by the 
Company and its domestic subsidiaries, and the businesses 
outside of Japan are operated by local subsidiaries in each 
region. Products of the Group comprise mineral water, coffee, 
tea, carbonated drinks, sports drinks, and food for specified 
health uses (hereinafter, “Beverages” in aggregate) and health 
supplements. These products are sold to customers through a 
variety of local brands in each region. Customers for the Group 
are local wholesalers or consumers, and the Group carries out 

its sales activities in conformity with the nature of local markets 
or consumers. In order to assess nature, amount, timing, and 
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows of the Group under such 
business environment, it is most appropriate to review revenue 
segregated by product (Beverages and Health supplements) 
and by areas of business activity. Revenue information by area 
is reviewed by the Board of Directors on a periodic basis to 
determine allocation of resources and to review performance of 
the Group. Disaggregated revenues by reportable segment and 
product are as follow:

Year ended December 31, 2018

Millions of yen

Reportable segment

Japan Europe Asia Oceania Americas Segment total

Beverages 708,725 245,175 142,825 54,185 85,025 1,235,938

Health Supplements ̶ ̶ 55,207 ̶ ̶ 55,207

Other ̶ ̶ 3,110 ̶ ̶ 3,110

Total 708,725 245,175 201,143 54,185 85,025 1,294,256

There were no significant contract assets or liabilities. The 
liabilities incurred from contracts with customers, such as 
sales incentives, which the Group expects to pay in relation to 
the sales transactions recorded for the reporting period, are 
recognized as refund liabilities and presented in accrued 
expenses.
	 The Group adopted the practical expedient of not disclos-
ing its remaining performance obligations, as performance 
obligations are parts of contracts that have original expected 
durations of one year or less. In addition, there is no material 
consideration which is not included in the transaction prices 

based on the contracts with customers. Promised consider-
ations include no significant financing component as the 
Group receives considerations within one year after the 
delivery of goods to the customers.
	 There has been no significant cost incurred to obtain or 
fulfil a contract with a customer. The Group recognizes the 
incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when 
incurred if the amortization period of the asset that the Group 
otherwise would have recognized is one year or less, as 
allowed as practical expedients.

26. Selling, general and administrative expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses were as follows:
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Advertising and sales promotions 155,416 157,620

Brand royalties 20,815 21,787

Employee benefits expenses 134,733 135,026

Rental expenses 12,741 13,212

Depreciation and amortization 35,881 33,757

Other 52,855 63,493

Total 412,444 424,897

Expenditures for research and development activities recognized as expenses were ¥9,012 million for the year ended December 
31, 2018 (¥9,488 million for the year ended December 31, 2017).
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27. Other income

Other income was as follows:
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Gain on sale of associated companies 1,876 12,038

Reversal of impairment losses 1,175 164

Gain on sale of property, plant and equipment 260 378

Other 2,550 2,009

Total 5,862 14,591

Gain on sale of associated companies for the year ended December 31, 2018 is due to the disposal of the food and instant 
coffee business.

28. Other expenses

Other expenses were as follows:
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 4,097 3,286

Restructuring charges 4,217 2,339

Impairment losses 1,360 4,341

Other 2,454 1,839

Total 12,129 11,806

Restructuring charges recognized during the year ended 
December 31, 2017 were for professional advisory fees 
related to the reorganization of subsidiaries in the Asia busi-
ness and restructuring costs related to the reorganization of 
subsidiaries carried out in the Europe business. Restructuring 
charges for the year ended December 31, 2018 are primarily 
expenses related to renewal and enforcement of management 

in the Europe business and restructuring costs in the African 
business.
	 Impairment losses was recognized for the year ended 
December 31, 2018 for plant, property and equipment, 
goodwill, brands, and other intangible assets at ¥423 million, 
¥962 million, ¥2,062 million, and ¥891 million, respectively.

29. Finance income and costs

Finance income and costs were as follows:
Millions of yen

Finance income 2017 2018

Interest received:

From financial assets measured at amortized cost 462 778

Fair value gains:

From financial assets measured at FVTPL ̶ 139

Dividends received:

From financial assets measured at FVTOCI:

From financial assets derecognized during the year 282 1

From financial assets held at the end of the year 126 113

Total 871 1,032

Millions of yen

Finance costs 2017 2018

Interest paid:

From financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 2,724 2,365

Fair value losses:

From financial assets measured at FVTPL 47 ̶
Net foreign exchange losses 1,512 311

Other 100 100

Total 4,384 2,777

30. Other comprehensive income

Details on amounts arising during the year, reclassifications, and tax effects for other comprehensive income were as follows: 

Year ended December 31, 2017
Millions of yen

Amount arising 
during the year

Reclassifi-
cations Before tax Tax effects After-tax

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Changes in the fair value of financial assets 565 ̶ 565 (176) 388 

Remeasurement of post-employment benefit plans 1,126 ̶ 1,126 (370) 755 

Total 1,691 ̶ 1,691 (546) 1,144 

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Translation adjustments of foreign operations 24,906 6 24,913 ̶ 24,913 

Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges 1,389 (590) 799 (287) 512 

Changes in comprehensive income of 
   investments accounted for using the equity method 

(8) 75 66 ̶ 66 

Total 26,286 (507) 25,779 (287) 25,492 

Grand total 27,978 (507) 27,470 (833) 26,637 
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Year ended December 31, 2018

Millions of yen

Amount arising 
during the year

Reclassifi-
cations Before tax Tax effects After-tax

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Changes in the fair value of financial assets (900) ̶ (900) 285 (614)

Remeasurement of post-employment benefit plans (266) ̶ (266) 61 (205)

Total (1,166) ̶ (1,166) 346 (820)

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Translation adjustments of foreign operations (31,795) (840) (32,635) ̶ (32,635)

Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges 2,198 (1,084) 1,113 (306) 806 

Changes in comprehensive income of 
   investments accounted for using the equity method 

(56) ̶ (56) ̶ (56)

Total (29,653) (1,924) (31,578) (306) (31,885)

Grand total (30,820) (1,924) (32,745) 39 (32,705)

31. Earnings per share

Earnings per share were calculated as follows. There were no dilutive shares.
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company 78,112 80,024

Profit for the year used in the calculation of earnings per share 78,112 80,024

Weighted-average number of ordinary shares (Shares) 309,000,000 309,000,000

Earnings per share (Yen) 252.79 258.98

32. Cash flow information

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and cash in banks.

(1) Liabilities for financing activities
Liabilities for financing activities were as follows:

Millions of yen

January 
1, 2017 Cash flows

Non-cash movements

Other 
movements

December 
31, 2017

Foreign 
exchange 

adjustments
Changes in 

fair value New leases Other

Bonds and borrowings 337,341 (30,805) 1,395 ̶ ̶ (901) ̶ 307,029

Derivatives (24,503) 4,293 ̶ 9,144 ̶ ̶ 935 (10,130)

Lease liabilities 22,304 (8,404) 7 ̶ 2,705 (61) ̶ 16,550

Cash flows associated with the bonds and borrowings and derivatives presented above reconcile to the net amount of increases 
(decreases) in short-term borrowings, proceeds from long-term borrowings, and repayment of long-term borrowings presented in 
the consolidated statement of cash flows. “Other” in the table above includes the receipt and payment of interests. Derivatives 
are utilized to hedge bonds and borrowings.

Millions of yen

January 
1, 2018 Cash flows

Non-cash movements

Other 
movements

December 
31, 2018

Foreign 
exchange 

adjustments
Changes in 

fair value New leases Other

Bonds and borrowings 307,029 (26,138) (10,058) ̶ ̶ 41 ̶ 270,874

Derivatives (10,130) 6,568 ̶ (1,334) ̶ ̶ 1,342 (3,554)

Lease liabilities 16,550 (6,998) (4) ̶ 3,576 (979) ̶ 12,144

Cash flows associated with the bonds and borrowings and derivatives presented above reconcile to the net amount of increases 
(decreases) in short-term borrowings, proceeds from long-term borrowings, repayment of long-term borrowings, and proceeds 
from issuance of bonds presented in the consolidated statement of cash flows. “Other” in the table above includes the receipt 
and payment of interests. Derivatives are utilized to hedge bonds and borrowings.

(2) Non-cash transactions
Non-cash transactions were primarily as follows:

Millions of yen

2017 2018

Assets acquired through finance leases 2,627 4,274
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33. Financial instruments

(1) Capital management
The Group manages its capital with the goal of maximizing its corporate value through sustainable growth. 
	 The key index the Company uses for its capital management is the net debt-to-equity ratio. The net debt-to-equity ratio is 
determined as net interest-bearing liabilities, i.e., interest-bearing liabilities less cash and cash equivalents, divided by total 
equity.
	 The net interest-bearing liabilities are determined considering the net valuation gain (loss) arising from derivative transactions 
under hedge accounting. The computation of the net debt-to-equity ratio for the Group is shown below. 

Millions of yen

2017 2018

Interest-bearing liabilities 307,029 270,874

Net valuation loss arising from derivative transactions (10,804) (3,743)

Interest-bearing liabilities (adjusted) 296,225 267,130

Cash and cash equivalents (113,883) (146,535)

Net interest-bearing liabilities 182,341 120,594

Total equity 746,201 798,877

Net debt-to-equity ratio (Times) 0.2 0.2

The Board of Directors of the Company monitors the Group’s 
financial indices. There have been no significant restrictions 
on the Group’s capital imposed by regulation authorities.

(2) Risk management for financial instruments
The Group is exposed to financial risks, e.g., risks of changes 
in credit, liquidity, foreign exchange rates, interest rates, and 
market prices in the course of its business activities. The 
Group performs risk management activities to mitigate such 
financial risks. The Group utilizes derivative transactions to 
avoid foreign exchange or interest rate fluctuation risks, and 
has a policy in place not to engage in speculative transac-
tions. The finance department monitors performance and 
balances of derivative transactions based on the Group’s risk 
management policies and reports derivative transaction 
records as necessary to the head of the finance function.

a. Credit risk management
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to financial assets 
held by the Group is unable to fulfil its contractual obligations, 
resulting in a financial loss for the Group. The Group is also 
exposed to credit risks from financial institutions. Financial 
institutions are counterparties with which the Group enters 
into derivative transactions to hedge foreign exchange and 
interest rate fluctuation risks and with which it deposits 
surplus capital. However, since the Group controls the impact 
from credit risks of such financial institutions by entering into 
transactions only with highly credible financial institutions, the 
impact on credit risks is immaterial. The Group sets credit 
lines for each business counterparty based on internal guide-
lines for credit management by business and country or 
region, focusing on management of overdue debtors and 
outstanding balances. The Group’s receivables are due from 

many business counterparties which reside in a wide range of 
countries and regions. The Group does not have any exces-
sively concentrated credit risk for a single counterparty or 
group to which such a counterparty belongs.
	 A loss allowance is determined by classifying receivables 
based on credit risk characteristics. A loss allowance for trade 
receivables is always measured at an amount equal to the 
lifetime expected credit losses. A loss allowance for other 
than trade receivables is principally measured at an amount 
equal to 12-month expected credit losses. If, however, other 
receivables become overdue, a loss allowance for such 
receivables is recognized at an amount equal to the lifetime 
expected credit losses on the basis that the credit risk on 
such receivables has increased significantly since initial 
recognition. All receivables other than trade receivables, for 
which a loss allowance is measured at 12-month expected 
credit losses, are measured collectively. The amount of 
expected credit losses is calculated as follows.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are classified by credit risk characteristics of 
customers based on the simplified approach. The lifetime 
expected credit losses for trade receivables are determined by 
multiplying their carrying amounts by an allowance percentage 
that is based on historical credit loss experience determined 
for each classification and adjusted for projected future 
economic conditions and other factors.

Receivables other than trade receivables
Unless the credit risk assessed on other receivables has not 
increased significantly since initial recognition, the 12-month 
expected credit losses for other receivables are determined 
based on the principle approach by multiplying carrying 

amount by an allowance percentage that is based on histori-
cal credit loss experience adjusted for projected future eco-
nomic conditions and other factors. 
	 For an asset or credit-impaired financial asset that is 
assessed to have increased its credit risks significantly since 

initial recognition, the lifetime expected credit losses for such 
an asset are determined as the difference between its carrying 
amount and the present value of its estimated future cash 
flows discounted using its original effective interest rate.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables subject to establishing loss allowances were as follows:

Trade and other receivables
Millions of yen

Carrying amount

Financial assets 
measured at 

12-month 
expected credit 

losses

Financial assets 
measured at 

lifetime expected 
credit losses

Financial assets 
applying the 

simplified 
approach

Balance at January 1, 2017 23,446 27 159,922

Balance at December 31, 2017 24,845 532 159,141

Balance at December 31, 2018 26,101 37 166,159

Financial assets measured at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses are principally credit-impaired financial 
assets.

Credit risk ratings
The credit risk ratings of financial assets measured at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses are relatively low, 
compared with those of financial assets measured at an amount equal to the 12-month expected credit losses. The credit risk 
ratings for financial assets to which the simplified approach is applied are equivalent to credit risk ratings of financial assets 
principally measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses. The credit risk ratings of financial assets classified 
in the same categories are relatively similar.

The collectability of trade and other receivables is determined based on the credit status of each business counterparty, and a 
loss allowance is recognized as needed. The following table shows increases (decreases) in loss allowances:

Loss allowance
Millions of yen

Allowance 
measured at 

12-month 
expected credit 

losses

Allowance 
measured at 

lifetime expected 
credit losses

Allowance for 
financial assets 

applying the 
simplified 
approach

Balance at January 1, 2017 7 27 632

Decreased (increased) due to financial assets incurred or collected (15) 433 202

Direct amortization ̶ ̶ (18)

Exchange differences 22 ̶ 68

Balance at December 31, 2017 15 460 885

Decreased (increased) due to financial assets incurred or collected (2) (64) 280

Direct amortization ̶ (359) (21)

Exchange differences ̶ ̶ (56)

Balance at December 31, 2018 12 37 1,087

There was no significant change in the carrying amount of financial instruments in total during the prior and current years that 
may affect changes in loss allowances.
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b. Liquidity risk management
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity is unable to make a 
payment by its due date in performing its repayment obliga-
tions for financial liabilities that become due. 
	 The Group diversifies its means of financing to prevent or 
mitigate its liquidity risks, considering the market environment 
and balancing short-term and long-term financing, such as 
utilizing indirect financing through bank borrowings and direct 
financing through issuance of bonds and commercial papers. 
Temporary excess funds are invested in highly secure financial 
assets, such as short-term deposits. 
	 The Group develops its financing plans based on its 
annual business plan, and manages its liquidity risks by 

continuous monitoring of the actual performance of financing 
against the plan. Further, these credit lines are secured and 
are available at any time with credible financial institutions. 
Liquidity on hand, including these credit lines and inter-
est-bearing liabilities, are periodically reviewed and reported 
to the President & Chief Executive Officer and the Board of 
Directors of the Company.

The balances of financial liabilities (including derivative finan-
cial instruments) by payment due date were as follows: 

Net receivables or payables from derivative transactions are 
presented at their net amount.

As at December 31, 2017
Millions of yen

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
amount

1 year
or less 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years 3 to 4 years 4 to 5 years

More than
5 years

Non-derivative financial liabilities: 

Trade and other payables 289,521 289,521 289,521 ̶ ̶ ̶ ̶ ̶
Borrowings 267,108 273,102 96,401 31,873 63,912 18,946 36,577 25,390 

Bonds 39,921 40,779 169 25,137 105 105 105 15,157 

Lease obligations 16,550 16,917 7,978 4,603 2,159 1,056 431 688 

Derivative financial liabilities:

Currency derivatives 60 65 54 10 ̶ ̶ ̶ ̶
Interest rate derivatives (9,847) (13,135) (11,936) 149 (3,243) 718 1,177 ̶

Total 603,314 607,251 382,189 61,774 62,932 20,826 38,291 41,237 

As at December 31, 2018

Millions of yen

Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
amount

1 year
or less 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years 3 to 4 years 4 to 5 years

More than
5 years

Non-derivative financial liabilities: 

Trade and other payables 303,783 303,783 303,783 ̶ ̶ ̶ ̶ ̶
Borrowings 201,028 207,240 53,172 63,967 28,286 36,423 130 25,259 

Bonds 69,845 70,663 25,148 115 15,115 115 15,115 15,052 

Lease obligations 12,144 12,524 5,444 2,829 1,671 1,032 569 977 

Derivative financial liabilities:

Currency derivatives (519) (409) (399) (9) ̶ ̶ ̶ ̶
Interest rate derivatives (3,524) (7,181) (1,103) (5,543) (1,127) 592 ̶ ̶
Commodity derivatives 5 5 4 0 ̶ ̶ ̶ ̶

Total 582,763 586,626 386,050 61,359 43,946 38,164 15,815 41,290 

c. Foreign currency risk management
The Group engages in business activities globally and is 
exposed to risks of changes in foreign exchange rates related 
to business activities contracted in foreign currencies, such as 
the purchase of raw materials and packing materials, trading 
transactions including import and export of goods, financing, 
and investments.
	 The Group avoids or limits risks of changes in foreign 

exchange markets for cash flows denominated in non-func-
tional currencies by utilizing foreign exchange contracts, 
currency options, and other instruments after considering 
netting effects of assets denominated in foreign currencies 
with liabilities or unrecognized firm commitments, as well as 
future forecasted transactions that can be determined reason-
ably. Accordingly, the Group assessed exposures to risks of 
changes in foreign exchange rates as immaterial to the Group.

d. Interest rate risk management
The Group finances its operating and investing activities 
through bonds and borrowings. Floating-rate borrowings are 
exposed to risks of changes in future cash flows, while fixed 
rate borrowings are exposed to risks of changes in their fair 
values. To mitigate the risk of changes in future interest rates, 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates, and changes in 
fair value, the Group uses interest rate swaps, interest rate 
currency swaps, and interest rate option contracts (i.e., 
interest rate caps and swaptions) as its hedging instruments.
	 The Group’s exposures to interest rate risk are limited, 
and the amount of interest rate risk affects on profit for the 
year is minor. 

e. Management of market price fluctuation risks
The Group limits risks of changes in market prices by utilizing 
commodity swap transactions.
	 The Group is exposed to risks of changes in market prices 
of equity financial instruments (shares). For investment securi-
ties, the Group manages such risks by periodically monitoring 
market quotes and financial conditions of issuers (i.e., busi-

The effect of hedge accounting on the consolidated statements of financial position and comprehensive income

Details of hedging instruments designated as cash flow hedges
Millions of yen

2017
Contractual 

amounts

Receivable/
payable after

one year

Carrying amount

Assets Liabilities

Foreign exchange risks:

Foreign exchange contracts:

Long—U.S. dollars 9,743 ̶ 121 9

Short—Australian dollars 5,692 ̶ 15 1

Currency swap contracts:

Payment in yen 1,844 ̶ ̶ 33

Receipt in New Zealand dollars (hedged item)

Interest rate risks:

Interest rate swap contracts:

Receiving on a floating interest and paying on a fixed interest 18,234 18,234 ̶ 282

Currency swap contracts:

Receiving on a floating rate and paying on a fixed rate 19,561 ̶ 7,558 45

Payment in U.S. dollars (hedged item)

Receipt in yen

Receiving on a floating rate and paying on a fixed rate 34,948 18,234 8,013 650

Payment in U.S. dollars (hedged item)

Receipt in pounds sterling

Receiving on a floating rate and paying on a fixed rate 53,628 53,628 111 4,858

Payment in U.S. dollars (hedged item)

Receipt in euros

ness counterparties). The effect of one percent increase or 
decrease in the market value of equity instruments on the 
Group’s other comprehensive income (before tax effects) was 
as follows. This analysis, however, is based on the assump-
tion that all other variable factors remain the same.

Millions of yen

2017 2018

Other comprehensive income 
   (before tax effects)

87 75

(3) Hedge accounting
Please refer to “(2) Risk management for financial instru-
ments” for the Group’s risk management policy over hedge 
accounting, determined for each class of risk exposure. 
Foreign currency exchange risks are managed by focusing on 
controlling risk exposures according to foreign currency risk 
management policy and hedge policy. Exposure to interest 
rate risk is managed considering financial market trends, 
asset-liability composition, interest rate fluctuation risks, and 
other factors.
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Millions of yen

2018
Contractual 

amounts

Receivable/
payable after

one year

Carrying amount

Assets Liabilities

Foreign exchange risks:

Foreign exchange contracts:

Long—U.S. dollars 11,361 ̶ 125 58

Short—Australian dollars 3,881 ̶ 157 ̶
Currency swap contracts:

Payment in yen 4,990 ̶ 103 27

Receipt in New Zealand dollars (hedged item)

Payment in yen 2,970 ̶ 52 ̶
Receipt in Australian dollars (hedged item)

Interest rate risks:

Interest rate swap contracts:

Receiving on a floating interest and paying on a fixed interest 16,855 ̶ ̶ 29

Currency swap contracts:

Receiving on a floating rate and paying on a fixed rate 25,419 25,419 6,231 223

Payment in U.S. dollars (hedged item)

Receipt in pounds sterling 

Receiving on a floating rate and paying on a fixed rate 50,473 42,853 80 2,535

Payment in U.S. dollars (hedged item)

Receipt in euros

The carrying amounts of derivatives are presented in other financial assets or other financial liabilities in the consolidated state-
ment of financial position. 

Increases (decreases) in net valuation gain (loss) on hedging instruments designated as cash flow hedges
Millions of yen

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges

Foreign 
exchange risks

Interest  
rate risks

Market price 
fluctuation risks Total

Balance at January 1, 2017 174 (1,423) ̶ (1,248)

Other comprehensive income:

Incurred for the period (401) 1,791 ̶ 1,389 

Reclassified 165 (756) ̶ (590)

Tax effect 33 (320) ̶ (287)

Balance at December 31, 2017 (28) (708) ̶ (736)

Other comprehensive income:

Incurred for the period 231 1,972 (5) 2,198 

Reclassified 188 (1,273) ̶ (1,084)

Tax effect (137) (171) 2 (306)

Balance at December 31, 2018 254 (181) (2) 70 

Changes in the value of hedged items used as a basis for 
recognizing the ineffective hedge portion approximate the 
changes in the fair values of the hedging instruments. “Re-
classified” in the preceding schedule represents the amounts 
reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged items affected 
net profit or loss, which are recognized as finance income or 
cost in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The 
amount of the ineffective hedge portions is insignificant.

(4) Fair value of financial instruments
a. Classification by the fair value hierarchy
For financial instruments measured at fair value, their fair values 
are classified into Levels 1 through 3 based on the observability 
of inputs used for measurement and their materiality.

Level 1:	�Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities

Level 2:	�Fair value determined using directly or indirectly 
observable prices other than Level 1 for the asset or 
liability

Level 3:	�Fair value determined using the valuation technique 
including unobservable inputs for the asset or liability

b. Financial instruments measured at fair value
The fair value measurement methods for major financial 
instruments are as follows.

Derivative assets and liabilities
The fair values of derivative instruments — e.g., foreign 
exchange contracts, currency options, interest rate swaps, 
interest rate currency swaps, interest rate options — are 
determined based on the prices presented by financial institu-
tions that are counterparties. For example, the fair value of a 
foreign exchange contract is measured at fair value based on 
quoted prices of forward foreign exchange markets. The fair 
value of an interest rate swap is measured at fair value as the 
present value of future cash flows, discounted using an 
interest rate swap rate as of the reporting date over a period 
to its maturity.

Equity instruments
The fair values of listed shares are measured based on the 
quoted prices available at the reporting date. Unlisted shares 
are principally measured at fair value using the valuation 
model primarily based on the net assets approach (i.e., a 
method to determine corporate values based on the net 
assets of issuing companies). 

The fair value hierarchy of financial instruments measured at fair value at each reporting date was as follows:

As at December 31, 2017

Millions of yen

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:

Financial assets designated as hedging instruments:

Derivative assets ̶ 15,828 ̶ 15,828

Financial assets measured at FVTPL:

Other 968 184 2 1,155

Financial assets measured at FVTOCI:

Equity instruments 5,566 ̶ 3,158 8,724

Other ̶ ̶ 8 8

Liabilities:

Financial liabilities designated as hedging instruments:

Derivative liabilities ̶ 5,918 ̶ 5,918

Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL:

Derivative liabilities ̶ 122 ̶ 122
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As at December 31, 2018

Millions of yen

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets:

Financial assets designated as hedging instruments:

Derivative assets ̶ 6,730 ̶ 6,730

Financial assets measured at FVTPL:

Derivative assets ̶ 204 ̶ 204

Other 964 154 2 1,121

Financial assets measured at FVTOCI:

Equity instruments 4,925 ̶ 2,657 7,583

Other ̶ ̶ 8 8

Liabilities:

Financial liabilities designated as hedging instruments:

Derivative liabilities ̶ 2,864 ̶ 2,864

Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL:

Derivative liabilities ̶ 31 ̶ 31

There were no transfers among Levels 1, 2, and 3 for the year ended December 31, 2018.

c. Changes in financial instruments classified as Level 3 during the period
Changes in financial instruments classified as Level 3 during the period were as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2018

Millions of yen

Financial assets 
measured at 

FVTPL

Financial assets 
measured at 

FVTOCI

Balance at January 1, 2017 2 2,481 

Total gains and losses ̶ 29 

Other comprehensive income ̶ 29 

Purchases ̶ 655 

Sales ̶ (0)

Balance at December 31, 2017 2 3,167 

Total gains and losses ̶ (499)

Other comprehensive income ̶ (499)

Sales (0) (1)

Balance at December 31, 2018 2 2,666 

Gains and losses included in profit or loss relate to financial 
assets measured at FVTPL at the reporting date, which are 
included in finance income or finance costs in the consolidat-
ed statement of profit or loss. 
	 Gains and losses included in other comprehensive income 
relate to financial assets measured at FVTOCI at the reporting 
date, which are included in financial assets measured at fair 
value through other comprehensive income in the consolidat-

ed statement of comprehensive income.
	 Financial instruments classified as Level 3 are measured 
at fair value based on related internal policies. In performing 
the fair value measurement, the Group applies the valuation 
techniques and inputs that best reflect the nature, character-
istics, and risks of financial instruments subject to fair value 
measurement. The result of fair value measurements is re-
viewed by supervising managers.

d. Financial instruments measured at amortized cost
The fair value measurement methods for major financial 
instruments measured at amortized cost are described below. 
Financial instruments whose fair values reasonably approxi-
mate their carrying amounts and immaterial financial instru-
ments are excluded from the following table.

Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, 
and trade and other payables
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, trade and 
other receivables, and trade and other payables approximate 
their fair value due to their short-term maturities.

	 Trade and other receivables are classified into financial 
assets measured at amortized cost, while trade and other 
payables are classified into financial liabilities measured at 
amortized cost.

Bonds and borrowings
Fair values of bonds are determined as the present value of 
the obligations, discounted by credit-risk adjusted interest 
rates over periods to their maturity. The following table shows 
the carrying amounts and the fair value hierarchy of major 
financial instruments measured at amortized cost at each 
reporting date.

Year ended December 31, 2017
Millions of yen

Carrying amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Liabilities:

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost:

Bonds 39,921 ̶ 40,575 ̶ 40,575

Borrowings 267,108 ̶ 268,228 ̶ 268,228

Year ended December 31, 2018

Millions of yen

Carrying amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Liabilities:

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost:

Bonds 69,845 ̶ 70,479 ̶ 70,479

Borrowings 201,028 ̶ 202,311 ̶ 202,311
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35. Related-party transactions

Related-party transactions and balances were as follows:

Year ended December 31, 2017
Millions of yen

Nature of relationship Name Nature of the related party transaction
Amount of 

transaction
Balance at 
period end

Parent company Suntory Holdings Limited Payment of brand royalty 20,815 1,802

Company owned 
   by the same parent company

Suntory 
   MONOZUKURI Expert Limited

Advance payment of 
   raw materials and other

̶ 60,233

Year ended December 31, 2018

Millions of yen

Nature of relationship Name Nature of the related party transaction
Amount of 

transaction
Balance at 
period end

Parent company Suntory Holdings Limited Payment of brand royalty 21,787 1,849

Company owned 
   by the same parent company

Suntory 
   MONOZUKURI Expert Limited

Advance payment of 
   raw materials and other

̶ 66,654

34. Principal subsidiaries

The Group’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period were as follows: 

Place of incorporation 
and operation

Reportable 
segment

Proportion of ownership interest 
and voting power held  

by the Group

Name of subsidiary 2017 2018

Suntory Foods Limited Japan Japan 100.0 100.0 

Suntory Beverage Solution Limited Japan Japan 100.0 100.0 

Suntory Beverage Service Limited Japan Japan 99.0 99.0 

Japan Beverage Holdings Inc. Japan Japan 82.6 82.7 

Suntory Foods Okinawa Limited Japan Japan 100.0 100.0 

Suntory Products Limited Japan Japan 100.0 100.0 

Orangina Schweppes Holding B.V. Netherlands Europe 100.0 100.0 

Lucozade Ribena Suntory Limited United Kingdom Europe 100.0 100.0 

Suntory Beverage & Food Asia Pte. Ltd. Singapore Asia 100.0 100.0 

BRAND'S SUNTORY INTERNATIONAL Co., Ltd. Thailand Asia 100.0 100.0 

PT SUNTORY GARUDA BEVERAGE Indonesia Asia 75.0 75.0 

Suntory PepsiCo Vietnam Beverage Co., Ltd. Vietnam Asia 100.0 100.0 

Suntory PepsiCo Beverage (Thailand) Co., Ltd. Thailand Asia ̶ 51.0 

FRUCOR SUNTORY NEW ZEALAND LIMITED New Zealand Oceania 100.0 100.0 

FRUCOR SUNTORY AUSTRALIA PTY. LIMITED Australia Oceania 100.0 100.0 

Pepsi Bottling Ventures LLC United States of America Americas 65.0 65.0 

80 other companies

The brand royalty rate is negotiated considering brand values and determined to be rational rate as payment for usage. Suntory 
MONOZUKURI Expert Limited leases the Group’s payment to third-party suppliers and does not have substantive transactions 
with the Group. The balance amounts above at period end includes consumption tax. 

Remuneration for principal executives was as follows:
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Basic remuneration and bonuses 439 416

36. Commitments

Commitments related to expenditures in the subsequent periods were as follows:
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 366 12,167

Commitments for the year ended December 31, 2018 are for the installation of new production lines at Ujigawa Plant and Haruna 
Plant in Japan, as well as the construction of the new Water Plant in Omachi-city, Nagano Prefecture, Japan.

37. Contingent liabilities

The Group provides a guarantee for bank loans of a third party.
Millions of yen

2017 2018

Oulmès Drink Developpement SA 337 317

38. Subsequent events

There were no subsequent events.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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